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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
(Continued) 

 
 
 The City has not presented the Budgetary Comparison Schedules that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America has determined is necessary to supplement, although not required to be part of, the basic financial statements. 
 
 Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the City's basic finan-
cial statements.  The introductory section, the combining and individual fund financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and are not required parts of the basic financial statements.  The combining and individual fund statements have been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 
financial statements.   
 

STATE BOARD OF ACCOUNTS 
 
August 25, 2009 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

As management of the City of Carmel, Indiana, we offer readers of the City of Carmel’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of 
the financial activities of the City of Carmel for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.  We encourage readers to consider the information 
presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal which can be found on pages                          
IV-IX of this report. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

• The assets of the City of Carmel exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $512,683,508 (net assets).  Of this 
amount, $250,746,910 (unrestricted net assets) may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors in accordance 
with the City’s fund designations and fiscal policies. 

 
• The City’s total net assets increased by $17,830,751 as compared to the restated 2007 total net assets.  The 2008 beginning net assets 

were restated due to $19,178,615 in prior period adjustments. The 2007 capital assets were increased to correct the amount of 
infrastructure assets reported.  The increase in net assets was primarily due to the additional $20 million contribution received from the 
State for the Keystone Avenue project. 
 

• As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Carmel’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$155,055,581 all of which is available for the use at the City’s discretion (unreserved fund balance).  

 
• The City of Carmel increased total outstanding debt obligations by $45,299,479 during the current fiscal year, due the issuance of tax 

increment revenue refunding bonds and waterworks revenue bonds net of various redevelopment and waterworks bond anticipation notes 
that were repaid. 
 
 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Carmel’s basic financial statements.  The City of Carmel’s basic 
financial statements comprise three components: 
 

1. Government-wide financial statements providing information for the City as a whole. 
2. Fund financial statements providing detailed information for the City’s significant funds. 
3. Notes to the financial statements providing additional information that is essential to understanding the government-wide and fund 

statements. 
 
This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 
 
Additional explanation of these sections of the financial statements follows. 
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Government-wide financial statements.  The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of 
the City of Carmel’s finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City of Carmel’s assets and liabilities with the difference between the two reported 
as net assets.  Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City of 
Carmel is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net assets changed during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net 
assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Thus, 
revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected 
taxes and earned, but not used, compensated absences). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Carmel that are principally supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs 
through user fees and charges (business-type activities).  The governmental activities of the City of Carmel include general government, public 
safety, highways and streets, culture and recreation and economic development.  The business-type activities of the City of Carmel include water 
and wastewater utilities. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 20-23 of this report. 
 
Fund financial statements.   A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated 
for specific activities or objectives.  The City of Carmel, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City of Carmel can be divided into three categories: governmental 
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus 
on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  
Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financial requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the 
information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.  By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the 
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a 
reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The City of Carmel maintains 43 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in 
the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the general fund, redevelopment commission 
operating fund, keystone avenue construction, redevelopment authority debt service fund and redevelopment authority construction fund, all of 
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which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other 38 governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  
Individual fund data for each of these non major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.   
 
The City of Carmel adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund, certain special revenue funds, certain debt service funds and 
certain capital projects funds.  Budgetary comparison statements have been provided for the general fund in the required supplementary 
information and for the other funds subsequent to the combining nonmajor fund information, as other information, to demonstrate compliance with 
the budget. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 24-27 of this report. 
 
Proprietary funds.  The City of Carmel maintains two different types of proprietary funds, Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions 
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.  The City of Carmel uses enterprise funds to account for its 
water and wastewater utilities.  Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City of 
Carmel’s various functions.  The City of Carmel uses internal service funds to account for its employee health and life insurance programs. 
Because these services predominately benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements.   
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail.  The proprietary fund 
financial statements provide separate information for the water and wastewater utilities which are considered to be major funds of the City.  The 
internal service funds are presented in the proprietary fund financial statements. 
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 28-33 of this report. 
 
Fiduciary funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government.  Fiduciary funds are 
not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City of Carmel’s 
own programs.  The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 34-35 of this report. 
 
Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 36-72 of this report. 
 
Other Information.   The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds and fiduciary funds can be 
found on pages 76-93 of this report. 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the case of the City of Carmel, assets 
exceeded liabilities by $512,683,508 at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 
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The second largest portion of the City of Carmel’s net assets (45 percent) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, vehicles, 
and equipment); less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding.  The City of Carmel uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.  Although the City of Carmel’s investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, 
since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
 

2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008
Restated Restated

Current and other assets  $   274,738,849 $   200,065,890 $     14,735,374  $     54,382,165 $   289,474,223 $   254,448,055 

Capital assets       391,502,864      487,899,644      183,349,193       194,068,171      574,852,057      681,967,815 

Total assets  $   666,241,713 $   687,965,534 $   198,084,567  $   248,450,336 $   864,326,280 $   936,415,870 

Long-term liabilities       266,088,940      268,892,737        75,836,880       123,272,292      341,925,820      392,165,029 
     outstanding

Other liabilities         23,481,151        24,439,046          4,066,552           7,128,287        27,547,703        31,567,333         
Total liabilities  $   289,570,091 $   293,331,783 $     79,903,432  $   130,400,579 $   369,473,523 $   423,732,362 

Net assets:

Invested in capital assets,       235,689,349      165,236,879      109,690,849         67,887,408      345,380,198      233,124,287 
     net of related debt

Restricted         32,888,239        24,964,698          2,402,387           3,847,613        35,290,626        28,812,311 

Unrestricted       108,094,034      204,432,174          6,087,899         46,314,736      114,181,933      250,746,910 

Total net assets  $   376,671,622 $   394,633,751 $   118,181,135  $   118,049,757 $   494,852,757 $   512,683,508 

City of Carmel's Net Assets as of December 31,

TotalGovernmental Activities Business-Type Activities

 
 
A portion of the City of Carmel’s net assets (5.6 percent) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.  
The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets ($250,746,910) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and 
creditors.  At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Carmel is able to report positive balances in all three categories of net assets, both for 
the government as a whole, as well as for its business-type activities. 
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The following is a summary of the information presented in the Statement of Activities for 2008 found on page 23 of this report: 
 

2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Revenue:

Program revenues:
    Charges for services 15,669,549$         18,909,660$           15,424,613$         14,193,420$         31,094,162$         33,103,080$         
    Operating grants and contributions 92,933,291           2,978,977              -                            -                            92,933,291           2,978,977             
    Capital grants and contributions 34,027,106           3,450,697              3,877,426             4,541,534             37,904,532           7,992,231             

General revenues:
  Taxes:
    Property 37,655,180           47,358,758            -                            -                            37,655,180           47,358,758           
    Income 23,542,260           23,929,222            -                            -                            23,542,260           23,929,222           
    Intergovernmental 4,076,588             5,071,620              -                            -                            4,076,588             5,071,620             
  Other    8,243,022             7,633,712              1,058,418             985,212                9,301,440             8,618,924                      
         Total revenues 216,146,996$        109,332,646$         20,360,457$         19,720,166$         236,507,453$        129,052,812$        

Expenses:
    General government 11,814,450           14,108,226            -                            -                            11,814,450           14,108,226           
    Public safety 31,793,193           34,661,749            -                            -                            31,793,193           34,661,749           
    Highways and streets 11,836,008           19,583,517            -                            -                            11,836,008           19,583,517           
    Economic Development 3,453,143             1,535,795              -                            -                            3,453,143             1,535,795             
    Culture and recreation 7,290,767             12,143,257            -                            -                            7,290,767             12,143,257           
    Interest on long-term debt 10,926,601           9,337,973              -                            -                            10,926,601           9,337,973             
    Water -                            -                             11,840,245           12,052,608           11,840,245           12,052,608           
    Wastewater -                            -                             6,698,647             7,798,936             6,698,647             7,798,936                     
         Total expenses 77,114,162$         91,370,517$           18,538,892$         19,851,544$         95,653,054$         111,222,061$        

Increase in net assets 139,032,834         17,962,129            1,821,565             (131,378)               140,854,399         17,830,751             
Net assets, beginning of year 218,460,173         376,671,622           116,359,570         118,181,135         334,819,743         494,852,757         
Restatement 19,178,615           -                         -                        -                        19,178,615           -                        
Net assets, beginning of year restated 237,638,788$        376,671,622$         116,359,570$        118,181,135$        353,998,358$        494,852,757$        

Net assets, end of year 376,671,622$        394,633,751$         118,181,135$        118,049,757$        494,852,757$        512,683,508$        

 Governmental Activities  Business-Type Activities  Total 

City of Carmel Change in Net Assets
As of December 31,
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Governmental Activities 
 
Governmental activities increased the City’s net assets by $17,962,129 accounting for 100 percent of the total growth in the net assets of the City.  
Notable changes in governmental and business-type activities revenues and expenses in 2008 compared to 2007 included the following: 
 

• Operating grants and contributions decreased $89,954,314 due to a grant received in the prior year from the State to be used for the road 
infrastructure improvements to Keystone Avenue. 

 
• Capital grants and contributions decreased $30,576,409 mainly due to a transfer in the prior year of Keystone Avenue from the State to 

the City at a value of $23 million and a decline in the amount of infrastructure contributed by developers. 
 
• Property tax revenues increased $9,703,578.  In addition to the normal increase in operating levies, tax increment revenue captured by 

the City from the growth in the redevelopment and economic development areas increased $2.6 million and debt levies for the building 
corporation bonds and 2004 road bonds increased $3.1 million.  

 
• General government expenses increased $2,293,776 which included a 3% wage increase for City employees, insurance cost increases 

and $1.3 million first year accrual of post employment benefit obligations.   
 

• Highways and streets expenses increased $7,747,509 mainly due to non capital costs incurred in connection with the construction of 
Keystone Avenue and projects by the Redevelopment Authority.  For example one time utility relocation costs along Keystone were in 
excess of $2 million to date.  The Redevelopment Authority projects in 2008 included the roadway projects funded with the 2006 COIT 
Bonds and the Performing Arts Center construction.  Non capital costs incurred in 2008 included utility connection fees, intersection 
landscape costs, legal fees for bankrupt contractor, financial services and other general project management costs outside of direct 
engineering and construction. 
 

• Culture and recreation expenses increased $4,852,490 mainly due to an expansion in the parks department after school programs which 
are paid from the parks non-reverting operating fund and certain upfront costs related to preliminary development of Founders Park which 
is expected to open in 2010. 
 

• Expenses for business type activities increased $597,702 or 3.7% due to the increase in depreciation provision and general operating cost 
increases.  
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As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Carmel’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $155,055,581, a 
decrease of $67,750,887 compared to the 2007 total fund balance. This decrease was due mainly to the construction of capital projects by the 
Redevelopment Authority on the roadway projects and the Performing Arts Center. Keystone Avenue Construction fund also had major capital 
expenditures during 2008 for work on the first two major intersections. 100 percent of the total fund balance amount constitutes unreserved fund 
balance, which is available for spending at the government’s discretion. 
 
The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Carmel.  At the end of the current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance of the general 
fund was $15,944,001.  As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare unreserved fund balance and total fund balance 
to total fund expenditures.  Unreserved fund balance represents 32% of total general fund expenditures.  The general fund’s total fund balance 
decreased by $18,801 during the current fiscal year.   
 
The Redevelopment Commission Operating fund decreased $1,337,864 during the current fiscal year.  This decrease was the net result of certain 
bond financing transactions and continuing expenditures in support of the Performing Arts Center and City Center economic development projects.  
The Commission issued $14,000,000 in bonds to refund $11,980,000 in Taxable Tax Increment Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes.  
 
The Keystone Avenue Construction fund decreased $8,170,773 in 2008 related to the continuing expenditures on phase one of the Keystone 
Avenue reconstruction project.   
 
The Redevelopment Authority Debt Service fund decreased $5,708,782 during the current fiscal year primarily due to capitalized interest 
payments for the 2006 COIT Lease Rental Revenue Bonds for road improvements and the 2005 Lease Rental Revenue Bonds for the Performing 
Arts Center. 
 
The Redevelopment Authority Construction fund decreased $51,270,613 during the current fiscal year due to capital project expenditures of 
$53,604,409.  Approximately half of this total related to the construction of the Performing Arts Center and the other half for reconstruction of 
various roadways throughout the City.  Almost twenty roadway improvement projects funded by the 2006 COIT Bonds are in progress in the 
central and western parts of the City. 
 
Proprietary funds.  The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial statements, but in 
more detail. 
 
Unrestricted net assets of the Water and Wastewater Utility at the end of the year amounted to $45,489,652 and $825,084, respectively.  Net 
assets for the Water Utility increased $815,072 during 2008.  Net assets for the Wastewater Utility decreased $946,450 during 2008.  Other 
factors concerning the finances of this fund have already been addressed in the discussion of the City of Carmel’s business-type activities. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Management.  
 
Capital assets.  The City of Carmel’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of December 31, 2008, 
totaled $681,967,815 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements, machinery and 
equipment, park facilities, roads, and storm sewers.  The total increase in the City of Carmel’s reported investment in capital assets for the current 
fiscal year was $107,115,758, or 19 percent. Approximately $96.4 million or 90% of this increase was in governmental activities related to the 
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following additions: $30 million in Performing Arts Center construction  projects, $23.4 million road projects funded by the 2006 COIT Bonds, $28 
million in Keystone Avenue reconstruction work and $10 million in land and right of way acquisition. Approximately $10.8 million of the net 
increase in capital assets in 2008 was related to business type activities primarily due to the additions to the water plant.  
 

2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008
Restated Restated

Land $129,662,299 $140,189,314 $2,105,228 $2,107,582 $131,767,527 $142,296,896

Buildings 13,303,698    13,246,715    31,321,771    35,066,720       44,625,469    48,313,435    

Improvements other than buildings 2,632,974      1,511,076      97,600,130    108,189,139     100,233,104  109,700,215  

Machinery and equipment 9,037,834      9,436,494      7,309,463      9,424,925         16,347,297    18,861,419    

Infrastructure 197,789,339  200,392,466  -                 -                    197,789,339  200,392,466  

Construction in progress 39,076,720    123,123,579  45,012,601    39,279,805       84,089,321    162,403,384  

        Total $391,502,864 $487,899,644 $183,349,193 $194,068,171 $574,852,057 $681,967,815

TotalGovernmental Activities Business-Type Activities

 
 

 
 
Additional information on the City of Carmel’s capital assets can be found in Note II.B., on pages 45-47 of this report. 
 
Long-term debt.   At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Carmel had $356,607,706 in long-term bonds outstanding. Of this amount, 
$2,685,000 is comprised of general obligation bonds backed by the full faith and credit of the government, $140,205,000 of redevelopment bonds 
to be paid with county option income and special benefits taxes, $104,798,227 of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) bonds, $2,995,000 of bond 
anticipation notes, $105,924,479 of revenue bonds issued by the Water and Wastewater Utilities secured solely by the net revenues of the utilities. 
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2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008

Governmental Activities:
Building Corp (Property Tax ) 3,400,000$             2,685,000$        -$                -$                  3,400,000$        2,685,000$        
Redevelopment (Property Tax) 33,145,000             31,605,000        -                  -                    33,145,000        31,605,000        
Redevelopment (COIT) 111,430,000           108,600,000      -                  -                    111,430,000      108,600,000      
Tax Increment Finance 91,218,227             104,798,227      -                  -                    91,218,227        104,798,227      
Bond Anticipation Notes 14,975,000             2,995,000          14,975,000        2,995,000          

Total 254,168,227$         250,683,227$    -$                -$                  254,168,227$    250,683,227$    

Business-Type Activities:
Revenue Bonds -$                        -$                  22,140,000$   106,248,725$    22,140,000$      106,248,725$    
Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes -                          -                    35,000,000     -                    35,000,000        -                    

Total -                          -                    57,140,000     106,248,725      57,140,000        106,248,725      

Total Outstanding Debt 254,168,227$         250,683,227$    57,140,000$   106,248,725$    311,308,227$    356,931,952$    

City of Carmel's Outstanding Debt as of December 31,

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

 
 

 
The City’s total bonds payable increased by $45,623,725 during the current fiscal year.  This change represents the net increase due to the sale of 
one bond issue and reductions from scheduled debt service payments.  Significant bond transactions of 2008 are summarized below: 
 

• $14,000,000 Redevelopment District Taxable Tax Increment Revenue Bonds, Series 2008 were issued to refund outstanding Taxable Tax 
Increment Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes of 2007, 2005, 2004A and 2003A.  
 

• $84,664,479 Indiana Bond Bank Special Program Bonds (Carmel Junior Waterworks Project), Series 2008 B were issued to refund the 
$35 million 2006 BAN and fund additional water system improvements.  

 
In addition to the bond issues described above, the City’s business activities acquired approximately 8,100 water customers from the City of 
Indianapolis in 2007 by issuing a note payable.  This installment purchase requires $1.8 million in annual payments to Indianapolis over the next 
20 years.  The present value of this obligation at the end of 2008 is $19,547,794. 
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The City of Carmel’s most recent underlying debt rating was “Aa2” from Moody’s Investors Service and “AA-” from Standard and Poor’s.  The 
State of Indiana limits the amount of general obligation debt a City may issue to 2% of its current assessed value.  For the City of Carmel, this 
amount is $46,243,930.  As of December 31, 2008, the City has $15,800,000 of outstanding debt subject to this limit.  The remaining outstanding 
City debt was issued as lease rental obligations or are payable with tax increment which are not subject to the 2% limit. 
 
Additional information on the City’s long-term liabilities can be found in Note II.F., on pages 50-58 of this report. 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Carmel’s finances for all those with an interest in the City’s economic 
future.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to the Office 
of the Clerk Treasurer, City of Carmel, One Civic Square, Carmel, Indiana, 46032. 



 Governmental Business-Type
Assets Activities Activities Totals

Cash and cash equivalents 150,358,577$      18,150$               150,376,727$      
Investments 14,169,388          -                           14,169,388          
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles):

Interest 737,159               166,195               903,354               
Taxes 10,005,712          -                           10,005,712          
Accounts 1,039,407            299,141               1,338,548            
Intergovernmental 21,004,904          -                           21,004,904          
Other -                           3,003,392            3,003,392            

Internal balances (881,677)              881,677               -                           
Inventories -                           325,239               325,239               
Prepaids -                           35,270                 35,270                 
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -                           5,004,771            5,004,771            
Investments -                           40,292,255          40,292,255          

Deferred debits 3,461,076            4,356,075            7,817,151            
Capital assets:

Land, improvements and construction in progress 263,312,893        41,387,387          304,700,280        
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 224,586,751        152,680,784        377,267,535        

Net pension asset 171,344               -                           171,344               

Total assets 687,965,534        248,450,336        936,415,870        

Continued on next page

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

December 31, 2008

Primary Government

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental Business-Type
Liabilities Activities Activities Totals

Accounts payable 9,062,401            2,758,299            11,820,700          
Accrued payroll and withholdings payable 1,755,227            250,094               2,005,321            
Compensated absences 748,201               144,781               892,982               
Accrued interest payable 3,844,923            1,005,640            4,850,563            
Customer deposits -                           23,390                 23,390                 
Other current payables -                           411,259               411,259               
Unpaid claims payable 581,204               -                           581,204               
Noncurrent liabilities:
   Due within one year:

General obligation bonds 735,000               -                           735,000               
Revenue bonds -                           1,830,000            1,830,000            
TIF bonds 435,000               -                           435,000               
Redevelopment bonds 6,105,000            -                           6,105,000            
Notes and loans 165,052               704,824               869,876               
Capital lease obligations 1,007,038            -                           1,007,038            

   Due in more than one year:
General obligation bonds 1,976,219            -                           1,976,219            
Revenue bonds -                           104,429,322        104,429,322        
TIF bonds 10,365,000          -                           10,365,000          
Redevelopment bonds 242,054,508        -                           242,054,508        
Notes and loans 690,281               18,842,970          19,533,251          
Bond anticipation notes 2,995,000            -                           2,995,000            
Capital lease obligations 1,711,122            -                           1,711,122            
Net OPEB obligation 1,304,676            -                           1,304,676            
Net pension obligation 7,795,931            -                           7,795,931            

Total liabilities 293,331,783        130,400,579        423,732,362        

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 165,236,879        67,887,408          233,124,287        
Restricted for:

Public safety 535,301               -                           535,301               
Highways and roads 3,786,779            -                           3,786,779            
Culture and recreation 1,370,190            -                           1,370,190            
Debt service 19,272,428          3,847,613            23,120,041          

Unrestricted 204,432,174        46,314,736          250,746,910        

Net assets 394,633,751$      118,049,757$      512,683,508$      

      

Primary Government

(Continued)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
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Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-Type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Totals

Primary government:
Governmental activities:

General government 14,108,226$    4,372,638$      42,908$           -$                     (9,692,680)$      -$                      (9,692,680)$        
Public safety 34,661,749      7,944,083        95,878             -                       (26,621,788)      -                        (26,621,788)        
Highways and streets 19,583,517      69,748             2,840,191        -                       (16,673,578)      -                        (16,673,578)        
Economic development 1,535,795        -                       -                       3,450,697        1,914,902          -                        1,914,902           
Culture and recreation 12,143,257      6,523,191        -                       -                       (5,620,066)        -                        (5,620,066)          
Interest on long-term debt 9,337,973        -                       -                       -                       (9,337,973)        -                        (9,337,973)          

Total governmental activities 91,370,517      18,909,660      2,978,977        3,450,697        (66,031,183)      -                        (66,031,183)        

Business-type activities:
Water 12,052,608      9,210,379        -                       2,814,171        -                        (28,058)             (28,058)               
Wastewater 7,798,936        4,983,041        -                       1,727,363        -                        (1,088,532)        (1,088,532)          

Total business-type activities 19,851,544      14,193,420      -                       4,541,534        -                        (1,116,590)        (1,116,590)          

Total primary government 111,222,061$  33,103,080$    2,978,977$      7,992,231$      (66,031,183)      (1,116,590)        (67,147,773)        

General revenues:
Property tax 47,358,758        -                        47,358,758         
County option income tax 23,929,222        -                        23,929,222         
Food and beverage tax 1,340,575          -                        1,340,575           
Local shared revenues 2,866,656          -                        2,866,656           
General state distributions 864,389             -                        864,389              
Unrestricted investment earnings 7,492,721          774,607            8,267,328           
Other miscellaneous 140,991             210,605            351,596              

Total general revenues 83,993,312        985,212            84,978,524         

Change in net assets 17,962,129        (131,378)           17,830,751         

Net assets - beginning, before prior period adjustment 357,493,007      118,181,135     475,674,142       
Prior period adjustment (See Note II.I.) 19,178,615        -                        19,178,615         

Net assets - beginning 376,671,622      118,181,135     494,852,757       

Net assets - ending 394,633,751$    118,049,757$   512,683,508$     

    

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

Program Revenues
Net (Expense) Revenue and

ldavid
Text Box
-23-



 

Redevelopment Keystone Redevelopment Redevelopment Other
Commission Avenue Authority Authority Governmental

Assets General Operating Construction Debt Service Construction Funds Totals

Cash and cash equivalents 14,792,215$      5,412,736$        41,051,969$      12,290,339$      59,279,697$      13,945,092$      146,772,048$    
Investments -                         -                         -                         5,043,040          9,126,348          -                         14,169,388        
Receivables:

Interest -                         -                         118,313             93,569               525,277             -                         737,159             
Taxes 9,422,897          -                         -                         -                         -                         582,815             10,005,712        
Accounts -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,039,407          1,039,407          
Intergovernmental 442,056             -                         20,000,000        -                         -                         562,848             21,004,904        
Due from related utility 1,226,819          -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,226,819          

Total assets 25,883,987$      5,412,736$        61,170,282$      17,426,948$      68,931,322$      16,130,162$      194,955,437$    

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 99,522$             688,106$           14,296$             -$                       8,255,786$        4,691$               9,062,401$        
Accrued payroll and withholdings payable 1,455,977          -                         -                         -                         -                         299,250             1,755,227          
Due to related utility 2,108,496          -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         2,108,496          
Unavailable revenue 6,275,991          -                         20,000,000        -                         -                         697,741             26,973,732        

Total liabilities 9,939,986          688,106             20,014,296        -                         8,255,786          1,001,682          39,899,856        

Fund balances:
Unreserved, reported in:

General fund 15,944,001        -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         15,944,001        
Special revenue funds -                         4,724,630          41,155,986        -                         -                         10,268,537        56,149,153        
Debt service funds -                         -                         -                         17,426,948        -                         1,939,049          19,365,997        
Capital projects funds -                         -                         -                         -                         60,675,536        2,920,894          63,596,430        

Total fund balances 15,944,001        4,724,630          41,155,986        17,426,948        60,675,536        15,128,480        155,055,581      

Total liabilities and fund balances 25,883,987$      5,412,736$        61,170,282$      17,426,948$      68,931,322$      16,130,162$      194,955,437$    

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF CARMEL
BALANCE SHEET 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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Fund Balance - governmental funds 155,055,581$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, 

therefore, are not reported in the funds:
Land and construction in progress 263,312,893      
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 224,586,751      487,899,644      

Net pension asset is prepaid amount and is not a current financial resource; therefore,
this is not reported in the funds. 171,344             

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain services
to individual funds.  The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in
governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets. 3,005,325          

Net pension obligation, including the 1925 Police Officers' Pension Plan and the 1937 Firefighters' Pension Plan,
is not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, is not reported in the funds, but is included
in the government-wide statements. (7,795,931)         

Net OPEB obligation is not due and payable in the current period and therefore is not reported in the funds. (1,304,676)         
Compensated absences which are not due and payable in the current period are, 

therefore, not reported in the funds. (748,201)            
Unavailable revenues are not available to pay current expenses and, therefore, are not reported as revenue in the funds. 26,973,732        
Accrued interest on bonds payable is not due and payable in the current period

and, therefore, is not reported in the funds. (3,844,923)         
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period 

and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:
General obligation bonds (2,711,219)         
Tax increment financing bonds (10,800,000)       
Redevelopment bonds (248,159,508)     
Notes and loans (855,333)            
Bond anticipation notes (2,995,000)         
Capital leases (2,718,160)         
Deferred debits (asset) 3,461,076          (264,778,144)     

Net assets of governmental activities 394,633,751$    

  

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF CARMEL
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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Redevelopment Keystone Redevelopment Redevelopment Other Total
Commission Avenue Authority Authority Governmental Governmental

General Operating Construction Debt Service Construction Funds Funds
Revenues:

Taxes:
Property 21,543,789$        11,746,644$        -$                         -$                         -$                         13,323,719$        46,614,152$        
Food and beverage 1,340,575            -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           1,340,575            
Income 18,272,131          -                           -                           -                           -                           523,948               18,796,079          

Licenses and permits 1,349,628            -                           -                           -                           -                           22,700                 1,372,328            
Intergovernmental 2,380,985            42,908                 20,000,000          -                           -                           4,217,146            26,641,039          
Charges for services 5,704,827            10,258                 -                           -                           -                           7,784,403            13,499,488          
Fines and forfeits 548,087               -                           -                           -                           -                           1,832,410            2,380,497            
Other:

Interest on investments 125,191               55,710                 2,011,445            759,588               4,259,153            281,634               7,492,721            
Sale of property 4,150                   53,100                 -                           -                           -                           861,156               918,406               
Donations -                           24,540                 -                           -                           -                           116,451               140,991               
Reimbursements 444,321               713,143               -                           -                           43,500                 399,341               1,600,305            

Total revenues 51,713,684          12,646,303          22,011,445          759,588               4,302,653            29,362,908          120,796,581        

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 10,322,532          -                           -                           1,500                   4,000                   2,146,398            12,474,430          
Public safety 33,887,538          -                           -                           -                           -                           296,281               34,183,819          
Highways and streets -                           -                           2,668,046            -                           2,858,296            9,482,838            15,009,180          
Economic development -                           1,795,632            -                           -                           -                           20,392                 1,816,024            
Culture and recreation 2,282,062            -                           -                           -                           -                           9,710,925            11,992,987          

Debt service:
Principal 445,000               12,540,000          -                           3,365,000            -                           1,135,000            17,485,000          
Interest 347,141               619,892               -                           8,473,444            -                           851,412               10,291,889          
Bond issue costs -                           210,000               -                           -                           -                           -                           210,000               

Capital outlay:
General government 1,086,902            -                           -                           -                           -                           1,388,570            2,475,472            
Public safety 1,075,377            -                           -                           -                           -                           664,810               1,740,187            
Highways and streets -                           -                           27,514,172          -                           -                           2,936,801            30,450,973          
Economic development -                           11,422,753          -                           -                           53,604,409          -                           65,027,162          
Culture and recreation 155,709               -                           -                           -                           -                           138,073               293,782               

Total expenditures 49,602,261          26,588,277          30,182,218          11,839,944          56,466,705          28,771,500          203,450,905        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 2,111,423            (13,941,974)         (8,170,773)           (11,080,356)         (52,164,052)         591,408               (82,654,324)         

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in -                           -                           -                           5,779,324            893,439               2,763,538            9,436,301            
Transfers out (3,033,661)           (1,395,890)           -                           (407,750)              -                           (4,599,000)           (9,436,301)           
Bond issuance -                           14,000,000          -                           -                           -                           -                           14,000,000          
Capital leases 903,437               -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           903,437               

Total other financing sources and uses (2,130,224)           12,604,110          -                           5,371,574            893,439               (1,835,462)           14,903,437          

Net change in fund balances (18,801)                (1,337,864)           (8,170,773)           (5,708,782)           (51,270,613)         (1,244,054)           (67,750,887)         

Fund balance - beginning 15,962,802          6,062,494            49,326,759          23,135,730          111,946,149        16,372,534          222,806,468        

Fund balances - ending 15,944,001$        4,724,630$          41,155,986$        17,426,948$        60,675,536$        15,128,480$        155,055,581$      

            

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
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Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances) (67,750,887)$     

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which capital outlays
exceeded depreciation in the current period:

Capital outlays 99,987,576        
Depreciation expense (6,123,087)         93,864,489        

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets (i.e., sales, trade-ins, and donations) is to decrease
net assets. 2,532,291          

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the 
governmental funds. (14,053,268)       

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment
of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however,
has any effect on net assets.  Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and similar
items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities.  This amount
is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items:

Bond issuance:
Bond anticipation notes (14,000,000)       
Bond issuance cost 210,000             
Capital leases (903,437)            

Principal payments:
General obligation bonds 715,000             
TIF bonds 420,000             
Bond anticipation notes 11,980,000        
Redevelopment bonds 4,370,000          
Notes and loans 106,982             
Capital leases 1,151,726          

Amortization of bond discount 642,733             
Amortization of bond issuance costs (221,363)            4,471,641          

Accrued interest reported in the Statement of Activities does not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore,
is not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 846,934             

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities to individual funds.  The net revenue of the 
internal service funds is reported with governmental activities. 57,042               

Compensated absences which are not due and payable in the current period are, therefore, not reported in the funds. (144,484)            
Net pension asset, net pension obligation, and net OPEB obligation are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore,

are not reported in the funds, but are included in the government-wide statements.
Net pension asset - PERF 24,372               
Net pension obligation - 1925 Police Pension and 1937 Firefighters Pension (581,325)            
Net OPEB obligation (1,304,676)         (1,861,629)         

Change in net assets of governmental activities (Statement of Activities) 17,962,129$      

  

CITY OF CARMEL

For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
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Internal Service
Water Wastewater Health

Assets Utility Utility Totals Self-Insurance

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents -$                         18,150$               18,150$               3,586,529$          
Interest receivable 166,195               -                           166,195               -                           
Accounts receivable (net of allowance) 170,097               129,044               299,141               -                           
Other receivables 1,203,631            1,799,761            3,003,392            -                           
Interfund receivable:

Due from associated City 2,108,496            -                           2,108,496            -                           
Due from associated Utility -                           113,641               113,641               -                           

Inventories 92,483                 232,756               325,239               -                           
Prepaid items 16,436                 18,834                 35,270                 -                           

Total current assets 3,757,338            2,312,186            6,069,524            3,586,529            

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,097,922            906,849               5,004,771            -                           
Restricted investments 40,292,255          -                           40,292,255          -                           

Total restricted assets 44,390,177          906,849               45,297,026          -                           

Deferred charges
Bond issuance costs 1,781,508            346,640               2,128,148            -                           
Investment in Indianapolis use of water 2,227,927            -                           2,227,927            -                           

Total deferred charges 4,009,435            346,640               4,356,075            -                           

Capital assets:
Land, improvements to land and

construction in progress 32,127,016          9,260,371            41,387,387          -                           
Other capital assets (net of

accumulated depreciation) 91,599,848          61,080,936          152,680,784        -                           

Total capital assets 123,726,864        70,341,307          194,068,171        -                           

Total noncurrent assets 172,126,476        71,594,796          243,721,272        -                           

Total assets 175,883,814        73,906,982          249,790,796        3,586,529            

Continued on next page

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2008

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Internal Service
Water Wastewater Health

Liabilities Utility Utility Totals Self-Insurance

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 2,447,390            310,909               2,758,299            -                           
Interfund payables:

Due to associated City -                           1,226,819            1,226,819            -                           
Due to associated Utility 113,641               -                           113,641               -                           

Accrued wages payable 132,614               117,480               250,094               -                           
Compensated absences 85,401                 59,380                 144,781               -                           
Other current payables 411,259               -                           411,259               -                           
Notes payable 704,824               -                           704,824               -                           
Unpaid claims payable -                           -                           -                           581,204               
Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:

Customer deposits 23,390                 -                           23,390                 -                           
Revenue bonds payable 1,435,000            395,000               1,830,000            -                           
Accrued interest payable 932,957               72,683                 1,005,640            -                           

Total current liabilities 6,286,476            2,182,271            8,468,747            581,204               

Noncurrent liabilities:
Revenue bonds payable (net of unamortized

discounts and deferred amount on refunding) 94,569,322          9,860,000            104,429,322        -                           
Notes Payable 18,842,970          -                           18,842,970          -                           

Total noncurrent liabilities 113,412,292        9,860,000            123,272,292        -                           

Total liabilities 119,698,768        12,042,271          131,741,039        581,204               

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 7,751,081            60,136,327          67,887,408          -                           
Restricted for debt service 2,944,313            903,300               3,847,613            -                           
Unrestricted 45,489,652          825,084               46,314,736          3,005,325            

Total net assets 56,185,046$        61,864,711$        118,049,757$      3,005,325$          

        
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2008

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

(Continued)
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CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND OTHER CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

Internal Service
Water Wastewater Health
Utility Utility Totals Self-Insurance

Operating revenues:
Residential sales 6,323,643$          2,556,617$          8,880,260$          -$                         
Commercial and industrial sales 1,763,262            2,404,555            4,167,817            -                           
Fire protection revenue 887,572               -                           887,572               -                           
Other 235,902               21,869                 257,771               7,815,856            

Total operating revenues 9,210,379            4,983,041            14,193,420          7,815,856            

Operating expenses:
Source of supply and expense - operations and maintenance 1,158,522            -                           1,158,522            -                           
Water treatment expense - operations and maintenance 2,299,275            -                           2,299,275            -                           
Transmission and distribution 2,186,341            -                           2,186,341            -                           
Collection system - operations and maintenance -                           917,975               917,975               -                           
Pumping - operations and maintenance -                           162,064               162,064               -                           
Treatment and disposal expense - operations and maintenance -                           2,451,946            2,451,946            -                           
Customer accounts 569,597               336,660               906,257               -                           
Administration and general 713,804               820,711               1,534,515            -                           
Payroll tax expense 184,702               169,934               354,636               -                           
Insurance claims and premiums -                           -                           -                           7,847,260            
Utility receipts tax expense 119,012               -                           119,012               -                           
Payment in lieu of taxes 214,500               137,400               351,900               -                           
Depreciation expense 2,453,489            1,691,316            4,144,805            -                           

Total operating expenses 9,899,242            6,688,006            16,587,248          7,847,260            

Operating income (loss) (688,863)              (1,704,965)           (2,393,828)           (31,404)                

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest and investment revenue 661,928               112,679               774,607               88,446                 
Miscellaneous revenue 181,202               29,403                 210,605               -                           
Interest expense (2,037,835)           (229,115)              (2,266,950)           -                           
Amortization of bond issue costs -                           (16,865)                (16,865)                -                           
Loss from disposition of property (115,531)              (864,950)              (980,481)              -                           

Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) (1,310,236)           (968,848)              (2,279,084)           88,446                 

Income (loss) before contributions (1,999,099)           (2,673,813)           (4,672,912)           57,042                 

Capital contributions 2,814,171            1,727,363            4,541,534            -                           

Change in net assets 815,072               (946,450)              (131,378)              57,042                 

Total net assets - beginning 55,369,974          62,811,161          118,181,135        2,948,283            

Total net assets - ending 56,185,046$        61,864,711$        118,049,757$      3,005,325$          

        

Enterprise Funds

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Water Wastewater Internal
Utility Utility Totals Service Funds

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers and users 8,388,091$          5,729,824$          14,117,915$        7,815,856$          
Payments to suppliers (2,106,244)           (1,539,011)           (3,645,255)           -                           
Payments to employees (3,246,264)           (2,978,083)           (6,224,347)           -                           
Payments for interfund services used -                           -                           -                           (7,726,678)           
Other receipts 417,104               51,272                 468,376               -                           

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 3,452,687            1,264,002            4,716,689            89,178                 
     
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Proceeds from capital debt 83,467,552          -                           83,467,552          -                           
Capital contributions 2,814,171            1,727,363            4,541,534            -                           
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (12,149,242)         (4,061,678)           (16,210,920)         -                           
Principal paid on capital debt (36,185,936)         (380,000)              (36,565,936)         -                           
Interest paid on capital debt (1,495,062)           (235,461)              (1,730,523)           -                           
Proceeds from sale of equipment 42,020                 274,616               316,636               -                           

Net cash provided by capital
and related financing activities 36,493,503          (2,675,160)           33,818,343          -                           

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments (40,292,255)         -                           (40,292,255)         -                           
Interest received 495,733               112,679               608,412               88,446                 

Net cash provided by capital
and related financing activities (39,796,522)         112,679               (39,683,843)         88,446                 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 149,668               (1,298,479)           (1,148,811)           177,624               

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1 
(Including $16,166,523 and $5,123,528 for the Water
and Wastewater Utilities, respectively, reported in
restricted accounts) 3,948,254            2,223,478            6,171,732            3,408,905            

Cash and cash equivalents, December 31
(Including $3,854,604 and $2,169,558 for the Water
and Wastewater Utilities, respectively, reported in
restricted accounts) 4,097,922$          924,999$             5,022,921$          3,586,529$          

Continued on next page

Enterprise Funds

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Water Wastewater Internal
Utility Utility Totals Service Funds

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) (688,863)$            (1,704,965)$         (2,393,828)$         (31,404)$              

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to
net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 2,453,489            1,691,316            4,144,805            -                           
Bad debt expense 12,511                 -                           12,511                 -                           
Nonoperating income (expense) 181,202               29,403                 210,605               -                           
(Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable - customer (16,422)                11,358                 (5,064)                  -                           
Accounts receivable - Other (163,274)              227,662               64,388                 -                           
Interfund receivables (406,690)              529,632               122,942               -                           
Inventories (9,546)                  (15,455)                (25,001)                -                           
Prepaid items 2,994                   3,003                   5,997                   -                           
Investment in Indianapolis use of water 1,088,176            -                           1,088,176            -                           

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 1,487,898            74,703                 1,562,601            -                           
Wages payable 31,894                 12,221                 44,115                 -                           
Compensated absence payable 13,487                 (876)                     12,611                 -                           
Interfund payables (529,632)              406,000               (123,632)              -                           
Other current liabilities (8,907)                  -                           (8,907)                  -                           
Customer deposits 4,370                   -                           4,370                   -                           
Unpaid claims payable -                           -                           -                           120,582               

Total adjustments 4,141,550            2,968,967            7,110,517            120,582               

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 3,452,687$          1,264,002$          4,716,689$          89,178$               

        
Noncash transactions:
   Capital assets were contributed by private developers in the amounts of $2,814,171 and $1,727,363 for the Water and Wastewater
   Utilities, respectively.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

Enterprise Funds

(Continued)
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Pension Agency
Assets Trust Funds Funds

Cash and cash equivalents (182,539)$            702,878$             

Investments at fair value:
U.S. Government securities 8,769,036            -                           

Interest Receivable 76,970                 -                           

Total assets 8,663,467            702,878$             

Liabilities

Withholdings payable -                           702,878$             

Total liabilities -                           702,878$             

Net Assets

Held in trust for:
Employees' pension benefits 8,663,467            

Total net assets 8,663,467$          

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
December 31, 2008
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Pension
Additions Trust Funds

Contributions:
Employer 494,128$             
Plan members 2,330                   

Total contributions 496,458               

Investment income:
Net increase in fair value of investments 4,639                   
Interest 359,882               

Net investment income 364,521               

Total additions 860,979               

Deductions

Benefits 930,292               
Administrative expense 3,122                   

Total deductions 933,414               

Changes in net assets (72,435)                

Net assets - beginning 8,735,902            

Net assets - ending 8,663,467$          

  

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2008
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CITY OF CARMEL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 
 
I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
 A. Reporting Entity 
 

The City of Carmel (primary government) was established under the laws of the State of Indiana.  The primary government operates under 
a Council-Mayor form of government and provides the following services:  public safety (police and fire), highways and streets, health, 
welfare and social services, culture and recreation, public improvements, planning and zoning, general administrative services, water, 
wastewater, and urban redevelopment. 
 
The accompanying financial statements present the activities of the primary government and its significant component units.  The com-
ponent units discussed below are included in the primary government's reporting entity because of the significance of their operational or 
financial relationships with the primary government.  Blended component units, although legally separate entities are in substance part of 
the government's operations and exist solely to provide services for the government; data from these units is combined with data of the 
primary government. 
 
Blended Component Units 
 
The Civic Square Building Corporation is a significant blended component unit of the primary government.  It was created in 1985 by the 
City for the purpose of constructing and financing a master fire station, parking area, and the development of a civic square.  These pro-
jects, known as Civic Square Phase I, were originally completed and leased by the City in 1987.  In 1989, the Civic Square Building 
Corporation completed financing and constructing a police station and municipal city building, known as Phase II.  The Civic Square Build-
ing Corporation is reported as if it were part of the primary government because the Building Corporation provides services entirely to the 
City.  To exclude the financial activities of this component unit would render the City's financial statements incomplete or misleading.  
Complete financial statements may be obtained from the City's administrative office, One Civic Square, Carmel, Indiana, 46032. 
 
The Carmel Redevelopment Authority (Authority) is a significant blended component unit of the primary government.  It was created by the 
primary government for the purpose of planning, replanning, development, and redevelopment of areas within the corporate boundaries of 
the City.  The primary government appoints a voting majority of the Authority's board and a financial benefit/ burden relationship exists be-
tween the City and the Authority.  Although the Authority is legally separate from the City, it is reported as if it were a part of the primary 
government because it provides services entirely or almost entirely to the primary government.  The Authority exists solely to finance and 
build/acquire assets/infrastructure for the primary government and is not involved in the operation/maintenance of these assets/ 
infrastructure.  Complete financial statements may be obtained from the City's administrative office, One Civic Square, Carmel, Indiana, 
46032. 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
Government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities) report information on all of the 
nonfiduciary activities of the primary government.  For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these state-
ments.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from 
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which direct expenses of a given function or segment are offset by program reve-
nues.  Direct expenses are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include (1) charges to customers or 
applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or segment and (2) grants 
and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are ex-
cluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are 
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of ac-
counting as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized in the year for which 
they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have 
been met.  Agency funds, however, report only assets and liabilities.  Since they do not report equity (or changes in equity), they have no 
measurement focus. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual 
basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be avail-
able when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, 
the primary government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, as well 
as expenditures related to compensated absences, claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to ac-
crual and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  Only the portion of special assessments receivable due within 
the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period.  All other revenue items are con-
sidered to be measurable and available only when the primary government receives cash. 



 

-38- 

CITY OF CARMEL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 
 

 
The primary government reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The general fund is the primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources of the general government, except those re-
quired to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
The redevelopment commission operating fund accounts for the receipts and disbursements for redevelopment projects handled by 
the City. 
 
The keystone avenue construction fund accounts for cash received from the State of Indiana to be used for reconstruction of keystone 
avenue. 
 
The redevelopment authority debt service fund accounts for the receipts and disbursements related to bond and interest payments of 
the redevelopment authority (a blended component unit). 
 
The redevelopment authority construction fund accounts for the bond issue proceeds and related construction costs for the rede-
velopment authority (a blended component unit). 
 

The primary government reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 
The water utility fund accounts for the operation of the primary government's water distribution system. 
 
The wastewater utility fund accounts for the operation of the primary government's wastewater treatment plant, pumping stations and 
collection systems. 
 

Additionally, the primary government reports the following fund types: 
 
The internal service funds account for the collection and payment to an insurance third party administrator for the City's employee 
health insurance programs.  Funding is provided by employee and City contributions. 
 
The pension trust funds account for the activities of the 1925 police officers' and 1937 firefighters' pension funds which accumulate 
resources for pension benefit payments. 
 
Agency funds account for payroll tax and benefit withholdings by the primary government as an agent for employees. 
 

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, generally are followed in both the 
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  Governments also have the option of following subsequent private-sector guidance for 
their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to this same limitation.  The primary government has elected not to follow sub-
sequent private-sector guidance. 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.  Exceptions to this 
general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and other charges between the government's water, wastewater and various other functions of 
the government.  Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions con-
cerned. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services or privileges provided, (2) 
operating grants and contributions, and (3) capital grants and contributions, including special assessments.  Internally dedicated resources 
are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally result from pro-
viding services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations.  The principal 
operating revenues of the enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services.  Operating expenses for enterprise funds and 
internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues 
and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the primary government's policy to use restricted resources 
first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity 
 
1. Deposits and Investments 

 
The primary government's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term invest-
ments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
 
State statute (IC 5-13-9) authorizes the primary government to invest in securities, including but not limited to, federal government 
securities, repurchase agreements, and certain money market mutual funds.  Certain other statutory restrictions apply to all invest-
ments made by local governmental units. 
 
Nonparticipating certificates of deposit, demand deposits and similar nonparticipating negotiable instruments that are not reported as 
cash and cash equivalents are reported as investments at cost. 
 
Debt securities are reported at fair value.  Debt securities are defined as securities backed by the full faith and credit of the United 
States Treasury or fully insured or guaranteed by the United States or any United States government agency. 
 
Investment income, including changes in the fair value of investments, is reported as revenue in the operating statement. 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 

2. Interfund Transactions and Balances 
 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred 
to as "interfund receivables/payables" (i.e., the current and noncurrent portion of interfund loans).  All other outstanding balances be-
tween funds are reported as "interfund services provided/used."  Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activi-
ties and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal balances." 
 

3. Property Taxes 
 
Property taxes levied are collected by the County Treasurer and are distributed to the primary government in June and in December.  
State statute (IC 6-1.1-17-16) requires the Indiana Department of Local Government Finance to establish property tax rates and levies 
by February 15.  These rates were based upon the preceding year's March 1 (lien date) assessed valuations adjusted for various tax 
credits.  Taxable property is assessed at 100% of the true tax value (determined in accordance with rules and regulations adopted by 
the Indiana Department of Local Government Finance.  Taxes may be paid in two equal installments that become delinquent if not 
paid by May 10 and November 10, respectively.  Delinquent property taxes outstanding at year end for governmental and/or propri-
etary funds, net of allowances for uncollectible accounts, are recorded as a receivable with an offset to deferred revenue since the 
amounts are not considered available. 
 

4. Inventories and Prepaid Items 
 
All inventories are valued at cost using the first in/first out (FIFO) method.  Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expendi-
tures when consumed rather than when purchased. 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 

5. Restricted Assets 
 
Certain proceeds of the enterprise fund revenue bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, are classified as re-
stricted assets on the statement of net assets balance sheet because they are maintained separately and their use is limited by ordi-
nance or applicable bond covenants. 
 

6. Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks and similar items), 
are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial statements. 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 
Capital assets are reported at actual or estimated historical cost based on appraisals or deflated current replacement cost.  Contri-
buted or donated assets are reported at estimated fair value at the time received. 
 
Capitalization thresholds (the dollar values above which asset acquisitions are added to the capital asset accounts), depreciation 
methods and estimated useful lives of capital assets reported in the government-wide statements and proprietary funds are as follows:  
 

 Capitalization 
Threshold 

Depreciation 
Method 

 Estimated 
Useful Life 

      
Land $ 1  Not applicable  Not applicable 
Buildings and improvements 5,000  Straight-line  50 years
Equipment  5,000  Straight-line  3 to 20 years
Roads – collectors and residential  1  Straight-line  25 to 50 years
Water collection systems  750  Straight-line  3 to 100 years
Wastewater distribution and 
     collection systems 

 
750

  
Straight-line 

 
3 to 100 years

 
For depreciated assets, the cost of normal maintenance and repairs that does not add to the value of the asset or materially extend 
asset lives is not capitalized. 
 
Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  Interest incurred during the construc-
tion phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed.  The total 
interest expense incurred by the primary government in its business-type activities during the current year was $4,253,683.  Of this 
amount, $1,986,734 was included as part of the cost of capital assets under construction in connection with the Water Utility. 
 

7. Compensated Absences 
 
a. Sick Leave – primary government employees earn sick leave at the rate of 5 hours per month.  Unused sick leave may be accu-

mulated to a maximum of 300 hours.  Accumulated sick leave exceeding the 300 hours (and any portion of the 300 hours which 
had been elected by the employee in January) is paid to employees as of the year-end, at the rate of 1 hour pay for each 2 hours 
leave being cashed in, through cash payments made in January of the following year. 

 
b. Vacation Leave – primary government employees earn vacation leave at rates from 90 hours to 157.5 hours per year, based upon 

the number of years of service.  At year-end, a maximum of 75 hours may be carried forward to next year.  Accumulated vacation 
leave is paid to employees through cash payments upon termination or retirement. 

 
Vacation and sick leave is accrued when incurred and reported as a liability in the statement of net assets and the proprietary funds 
statements.  Only amounts due and payable at year-end to terminated employees are included in the governmental funds statements. 



 

-42- 

CITY OF CARMEL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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8. Unavailable Revenue 

 
Unavailable revenues are those where asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which revenue recognition criteria have not 
been met. 
 

9. Long-Term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term debt and other 
long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities or proprietary fund 
type statement of net assets.  Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of 
the bonds using the straight-line method.  Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.  Bond issu-
ance costs are reported as deferred charges and amortized over the term of the related debt. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, 
during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issu-
ances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses.  Issuance 
costs, whether or not withheld from actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 

10. Fund Equity 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund balance for amounts that are not available for appro-
priation or are legally restricted by outside parties for use for a specific purpose.  Designations of fund balance represent tentative 
management plans that are subject to change. 

 
 
II. Detailed Notes on All Funds 

 
A. Deposits and Investments 

 
1. Deposits 

 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City's deposits may not be returned to it.  Indiana Code 5-13-8-1 
allows a political subdivision of the State of Indiana to deposit public funds in a financial institution only if the financial institution is a 
depository eligible to receive state funds and has a principal office or branch that qualifies to receive public funds of the political 
subdivision.  The bank balances were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Public Deposit Insurance Fund, 
which covers all public funds held in approved depositories. 
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2. Investments 
 

Authorization for investment activity is stated in Indiana Code 5-13.  As of December 31, 2008, the City had the following investments: 
 

 
Statutory Authority for Investments 
 
Indiana Code 5-13-9 authorizes the City to invest in securities backed by the full faith and credit of the United States Treasury or fully 
guaranteed by the United States of America and issued by the United States Treasury, a federal agency, a federal instrumentality, or 
a federal government sponsored enterprise.  Indiana Code also authorizes the unit to invest in securities fully guaranteed and issued 
by a federal agency, a federal instrumentality, or a federal government sponsored enterprise.  These investments are required by stat-
ute to have a stated final maturity of not more than two years. 
 
Indiana Code also provides for investment in money market mutual funds that are in the form of securities of, or interest in, an open-
end, no-load, management-type investment company or investment trust registered under the provision of the federal Investment 
Company Act of 1940, as amended.  Investments in money market mutual funds may not exceed 50% of the funds held by the City 
and available for investment.  The portfolio of an investment company or investment trust used must be limited to direct obligations of 
the United States of America, obligations issued by a federal agency, a federal instrumentality, or a federal government sponsored 
enterprise; or repurchase agreements fully collateralized by direct obligations of the United States of America or obligations issued by 
a federal agency, a federal instrumentality, or a federal government sponsored enterprise.  The form of securities or interest in an 
investment company or investment trust must be rated as AAA, or its equivalent, by Standard and Poor's Corporation or its successor 
or Aaa, or its equivalent, by Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or its successor.  The form of securities in an investment company or 
investment trust should have a stated final maturity of one day. 
 
Additionally, the City may enter into repurchase agreements with depositories designated by the State Board of Finance as deposi-
tories for state deposits involving the unit's purchase and guaranteed resale of any interest-bearing obligations issued or fully insured 
or guaranteed by the United States of America, a United States of America government agency, an instrumentality of the United 
States of America, or a federal government sponsored enterprise.  The repurchase agreement is considered to have a stated final 
maturity of one day.  This agreement must be fully collateralized by interest-bearing obligations as determined by their current market 
value. 

Investment Fair
Type Value

U.S. Treasuries and Securities 545,956$         
U.S. Agencies 22,392,468       

Total 22,938,424$     
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Investment Custodial Credit Risk 
 
The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, a government 
will not be able to recover the value of investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The City does 
not have a formal investment policy for custodial credit risk for investments that are uninsured and (1) uncollateralized, (2) col-
lateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution, or (3) collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial 
institution's trust department or agent but not in the government's name.  At December 31, 2008, the City held investments in U.S. 
Agencies in the amount of $22,391,659.  All of these investments were held by the counterparty's trust department.  
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.  The City must follow 
state statute and limit the stated final maturities of the investments to no more than two years.  The City does not have a formal invest-
ment policy for interest rate risk for investments. 
 

 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  At December 31, 2008, the 
City's investments in U.S. Treasuries and Government Sponsored Agencies were all rated AAA by Standard and Poor's.  The City 
does not have a formal policy in regards to credit risk. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a single issuer.  The City 
does not have a formal policy in regards to concentration of credit risk.  United States of America government and United States of 
America governmental agency securities are exempt from this policy requirement.   
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
The City does not have a formal policy in regards to foreign currency risk.  

Investment Fair Less
Type Value Than 1 1-2

Primary government:
U.S. Agencies 22,938,424$     18,479,001$     4,459,423$       

Investment Maturities (in Years)
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B. Capital Assets 

 
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2008, was as follows: 
 

 
 

  

Previously
Reported Restated
Beginning Beginning Ending

Primary Government Balance Adjustments Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 21,081,431$     -$                    21,081,431$     3,482,914$       -$                    24,564,345$     
Right of ways 109,248,671     -                      109,248,671     6,376,298         -                      115,624,969     
Construction in progress 37,931,064       -                      37,931,064       85,192,515       -                      123,123,579     

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 168,261,166     -                      168,261,166     95,051,727       -                      263,312,893     

Capital assets, being  depreciated:
Buildings 17,961,476       -                      17,961,476       1,029,482         -                      18,990,958       
Improvements other than buildings 3,890,531         -                      3,890,531         8,545               -                      3,899,076         
Machinery and equipment 14,109,961       -                      14,109,961       1,622,308         1,570,785         14,161,484       
Infrastructure 208,693,475     19,178,615       227,872,090     4,807,805         -                      232,679,895     

Total capital assets, being depreciated 244,655,443     19,178,615       263,834,058     7,468,140         1,570,785         269,731,413     

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings 5,304,310         -                      5,304,310         439,933            -                      5,744,243         
Improvements 2,063,052         -                      2,063,052         324,948            -                      2,388,000         
Machinery and equipment 5,130,427         -                      5,130,427         1,165,348         1,570,785         4,724,990         
Infrastructure 28,094,571       -                      28,094,571       4,192,858         -                      32,287,429       

Total accumulated depreciation 40,592,360       -                      40,592,360       6,123,087         1,570,785         45,144,662       

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 204,063,083     19,178,615       223,241,698     1,345,053         -                      224,586,751     

Total governmental activities
capital assets, net 372,324,249$    19,178,615$     391,502,864     96,396,780$     -$                    487,899,644$    
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Beginning Ending
Primary Government Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 2,105,228$       276,971$        274,617$        2,107,582$       
Construction in progress 44,962,581       13,832,251     19,515,027     39,279,805       

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 47,067,809       14,109,222     19,789,644     41,387,387       

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings 44,378,209       5,625,410       1,432,517       48,571,102       
Improvements other than buildings 113,082,511     13,069,252     190,978          125,960,785     
Machinery and equipment 12,255,267       2,922,063       339,331          14,837,999       

Totals 169,715,987     21,616,725     1,962,826       189,369,886     

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 13,056,438       1,026,377       578,433          13,504,382       
Improvements other than buildings 15,482,381       2,334,177       44,912            17,771,646       
Machinery and equipment 4,945,804        784,251          316,981          5,413,074        

Totals 33,484,623       4,144,805       940,326          36,689,102       

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 136,231,364     17,471,920     1,022,500       152,680,784     

Total business-type activities capital assets, net 183,299,173$   31,581,142$    20,812,144$    194,068,171$   
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 
 

 
 C. Construction Commitments 
 

Construction work in progress is composed of the following: 

Governmental activities:
General government 307,309$        
Public safety 880,463          
Highways and streets 4,480,949       
Economic development 353,765          
Culture and recreation 100,601          

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities 6,123,087$     

Business-type activities:
Water 2,453,489$     
Wastewater 1,691,316       

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities 4,144,805$     
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D. Interfund Balances and Activity 

 
1. Interfund Receivables and Payables 

 
Interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) Interfund loans are repaid, (2) Interfund goods and services 
are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (3) transactions are recorded in the accounting system and (4) payments between 
funds are made.  
 
The composition of interfund balances as of December 31, 2008, is as follows: 
 

Total Expended to Required
Project December 31, Future

Project Authorized 2008 Committed Funding

Govermental activities:
Redevelopment of blighted areas 80,000,000$     47,473,496$     32,526,504$     -$                    
Road reconstruction 177,510,887     75,650,083       101,860,804     -                      

Total governmental activities 257,510,887     123,123,579     134,387,308     -                      

Business-type activities:
Water treatment facilities 58,782,902       30,137,125       28,645,777       -                      
Wastewater treatment facilities 38,566,500       9,142,680         29,423,820       -                      

Total business-type activities 97,349,402       39,279,805       58,069,597       -                      

Totals 354,860,289$    162,403,384$    192,456,905$    -$                    
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2. Interfund Transfers 

 
Interfund transfers at December 31, 2008, were as follows: 
 

 
The primary government typically uses transfers to fund ongoing operating subsidies and to pay lease rental payments to blended 
component units. 

Redevelopment Redevelopment
Authority Authority Nonmajor

Transfer From Debt Service Capital Projects Governmental Totals

Major governmental:
General Fund 2,659,324$       -$                    374,337$          3,033,661$       
Redevelopment Commission Operating -                      485,689            910,201            1,395,890         
Redevelopment Authority Debt Service -                      407,750            -                      407,750            

Nonmajor governmental 3,120,000         -                      1,479,000         4,599,000         

Totals 5,779,324$       893,439$          2,763,538$       9,436,301$       

Transfer to

General Water Wastewater
Due To Fund Utility Utility Totals

General Fund -$                 -$                   1,226,819$        1,226,819$        
Water Utility 2,108,496      -                     -                       2,108,496          
Wastewater Utility -                   113,641           -                       113,641             

Totals 2,108,496$    113,641$         1,226,819$        3,448,956$        

Due From
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E. Leases 
 
Capital Leases 
 
The primary government has entered into various capital leases for equipment.  Future minimum lease payments and present values of 
the net minimum lease payments under these capital leases as of December 31, 2008, are as follows: 
 

 
The cost of assets acquired through capital leases still in effect is $3,480,286, of machinery and equipment. 

 
F. Long-Term Debt 

 
1. General Obligation Bonds 

 
The Civic Square Building Corporation (a blended component unit) issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition 
and construction of major capital facilities to be leased to the primary government. 
 
General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the government.  General obligation bonds out-
standing at year end are as follows: 

Governmental activities:
2009 1,124,602$    
2010 851,224        
2011 541,961        
2012 208,440        
2013 118,342        
2014-2018 132,636        

Total minimum lease payments 2,977,205     
Less amount representing interest 259,045        

Present value of net minimum lease payments 2,718,160     
Due within one year (1,007,038)    

Due in more than one year 1,711,122$    
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as follows: 
 

 
2. Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Bonds 

 
The primary government issues TIF bonds for the construction of major capital facilities within a TIF District.  The bonds are to be 
repaid from the Carmel Redevelopment Commission Projects Fund (Debt Service).  TIF bonds are generally issued as 20 year serial 
bonds.  
 
TIF bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 

Original Financial
Interest Principal Statement

Purpose Rates Amount Amount

Governmental activities:
2004 First Mortgage Bonds, fire and police station 2.0% to 4.0% 3,400,000$    2,685,000$    

Due within one year (735,000)       
Unamortized premium 26,219          

Due in more than one year 1,976,219$    

Year Ended
December 31 Principal Interest Totals

2009 735,000$          84,750$            819,750$      
2010 760,000            60,175             820,175        
2011 785,000            34,825             819,825        
2012 405,000            7,088               412,088        

Totals 2,685,000$       186,838$          2,871,838$    

Governmental Activities
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for TIF bonds are as follows: 
 

 
 

Original Financial
Interest Principal Statement

Purpose Rates Amount Amount

Governmental activities:
1998 Merchants Square 6.5% to 7.0% 2,655,000$       2,050,000$       
2004 Illinois Street 6.65% 9,500,000         8,750,000         

Total TIF bonds 12,155,000$     10,800,000       

Due within one year (435,000)           

Due in more than one year 10,365,000$     

Year Ended
December 31 Principal Interest Totals

2009 435,000$          716,389$          1,151,389$     
2010 510,000            685,028            1,195,028       
2011 545,000            649,740            1,194,740       
2012 580,000            612,255            1,192,255       
2013 615,000            572,241            1,187,241       
2014-2018 3,965,000         2,153,104         6,118,104       
2019-2023 3,710,000         857,518            4,567,518       
2024-2028 440,000            14,630             454,630          

Totals 10,800,000$     6,260,905$       17,060,905$    

Governmental Activities
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3. Redevelopment Bonds 
 
The primary government issues redevelopment bonds to provide for the construction of major capital facilities within its boundaries.  
The County Option Income Tax revenues are pledged to pay these bonds.  The Redevelopment Authority issues redevelopment 
bonds to provide for the construction/reconstruction of roads and other facilities to be leased to the City.   
 
The City's lease rental payments will be paid from tax increment financing, county option income tax and, if necessary, a special bene-
fits tax. 
 

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for redevelopment bonds are as follows: 

 

Original Financial
Interest Principal Statement

Purpose Rates Amount Amount

Governmental activities:
Primary government:

2002 Street facility and road improvements 3.125% to 4.60% 10,450,000$     8,350,000$       
2006 City Center construction 6.50% to 7.50% 8,785,000         7,450,000         
2008 Redevelopment project bonds 5.85% to 7.80% 14,000,000       14,000,000       

Blended component unit:
2004 Refunding redevelopment 5.00% to 5.25% 27,985,000       20,800,000       
2004 Street and roadway improvements 3.00% to 5.00% 35,000,000       31,605,000       
2005 Performance Arts Center construction 4.625% to 10.20% 79,998,227       79,998,227       
2006 Infrastructure construction 4.625% to 10.20% 72,000,000       72,000,000       

Total redevelopment bonds 234,218,227$    234,203,227     

Due within one year (6,105,000)        
Unamortized premium 13,956,281       

Due in more than one year 242,054,508$    
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4. Revenue Bonds 

 
The primary government issues revenue bonds to be paid by income derived from the acquired or constructed assets.  Revenue 
bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 

 

Year Ended
December 31 Principal Interest Totals

2009 6,105,000$         10,081,002$       16,186,002$       
2010 7,575,000           9,827,512           17,402,512         
2011 11,235,216         11,745,727         22,980,943         
2012 9,631,931           10,038,266         19,670,197         
2013 9,789,004           10,148,225         19,937,229         
2014-2018 56,061,481         46,108,204         102,169,685       
2019-2023 48,320,399         46,130,276         94,450,675         
2024-2028 57,800,196         29,970,478         87,770,674         
2029-2033 27,685,000         2,773,805           30,458,805         

Totals 234,203,227$     176,823,495$     411,026,722$     

Governmental Activities

Original Financial
Interest Principal Statement

Purpose Rates Amount Amount

Business-type activities:
2002A Water plant extensions and improvements 4.20% to 5.15% 4,000,000$      3,880,000$       
2002B Water plant extensions and improvements 3.50% to 5.10% 5,400,000       4,925,000         
2003A Waterworks expansion 2.00% to 3.85% 4,005,000       2,200,000         
2008 Water plant appreciation bonds 4.00% to 5.79% 20,644,479      20,968,725       
2008 Water plant expansion bonds 4.00% to 5.79% 64,020,000      64,020,000       
2005 Wastewater improvements 3.15% to 4.61% 11,000,000      10,255,000       

Total revenue bonds 109,069,479$  106,248,725     

Net unamortized premium/discount 10,597             
Due within one year (1,830,000)        

Due in more than one year 104,429,322$   
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Revenue bonds debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

 

 
5. Bond Anticipation Notes (BAN) Payable: 
 

The primary government issues bond anticipation notes for the purpose of commencing construction projects.  In accordance with 
Indiana Code 5-1-14-5, each bond anticipation note is scheduled to be replaced by redevelopment or revenue bonds after five years.  
Bond anticipation notes currently outstanding are as follows:  

 

 
  

Original Financial
Principal Statement
Amount Amount

2006 Golf Course BAN 2,995,000$       2,995,000$       

Governmental Activities

Year Ended

December 31 Principal Interest Totals Principal Interest Totals

2009 1,435,000$      3,920,479$      5,355,479$      395,000$        429,382$       824,382$       
2010 530,000          3,545,399        4,075,399        415,000          415,300         830,300         
2011 700,000          3,520,571        4,220,571        425,000          400,178         825,178         
2012 740,000          3,493,533        4,233,533        430,000          384,337         814,337         
2013 990,000          3,459,762        4,449,762        450,000          367,591         817,591         
2014-2018 9,665,000       16,173,317      25,838,317      2,595,000       1,541,379      4,136,379      
2019-2023 20,450,000      12,595,807      33,045,807      3,240,000       908,035         4,148,035      
2024-2028 40,515,000      5,664,035        46,179,035      2,305,000       162,618         2,467,618      
2029-2033 20,968,725      41,465,521      62,434,246      -                     -                    -                   
2034-2038 -                     14,130,000      14,130,000      -                     -                    -                   

Totals 95,993,725$    107,968,424$  203,962,149$  10,255,000$    4,608,820$     14,863,820$  

Water Wastewater
Business-Type Activities
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6. Notes/Loans Payable 

 
The City (Redevelopment Commission) has entered into two notes payable for the purchase of land for $1,390,000.  The Water Utility 
has entered into a note payable with Indianapolis Water Company to purchase existing water lines, for $22,237,250, to be serviced by 
the City of Carmel.  Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the notes are as follows: 
 

 
 

Year Ended Governmental Business-Type
December 31 Activities Activities

2009 214,696$          1,800,000$       
2010 719,540            1,800,000         
2011 -                      1,800,000         
2012 -                      1,800,000         
2013 -                      1,800,000         
2014-2018 -                      9,000,000         
2019-2023 -                      9,000,000         
2024-2028 -                      3,600,000         

Totals 934,236            30,600,000       
Less amount representing interest (78,903)            (11,052,206)      

Present value of net payments 855,333            19,547,794       
Due within one year (165,052)           (704,824)           

Due in more than one year 690,281$          18,842,970$     
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7. Advance Refunding – Carmel Civic Square Building Corporation 
 
In prior years, the primary government defeased certain general obligation and other bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in 
an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments of the old bonds.  Accordingly, the trust account assets and the 
liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the primary government's financial statements.  Outstanding bonds at December 
31, 2008, considered defeased were $2,600,000. 
 

8. Advance Refunding – Carmel Redevelopment Authority 
 
In 2002, the Authority defeased certain redevelopment  bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide 
for all future debt service payments of the old bonds.  Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are 
not included in the primary government's financial statements.  Outstanding bonds, at December 31, 2008, considered defeased were 
$26,670,000. 

 
9. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 

 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended December 31, 2008, was as follows: 

 
  

Due
Beginning Ending Within

Primary Government Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental activities:
Bonds payable:

General obligation 3,400,000$        -$                  715,000$        2,685,000$        735,000$       
Redevelopment bonds 224,573,227      14,000,000     4,370,000       234,203,227      6,105,000      
TIF bonds 11,220,000        -                    420,000          10,800,000        435,000         

Total bonds payable 239,193,227      14,000,000     5,505,000       247,688,227      7,275,000      

Capital leases 2,966,449          903,437          1,151,726       2,718,160          1,007,038      
Notes 962,315            -                    106,982          855,333            165,052         
Bond anticipation notes 14,975,000        -                    11,980,000     2,995,000          2,995,000      
Compensated absences 603,717            2,756,242       2,635,174       724,785            724,785         
Net pension obligation 7,214,606          581,325          -                    7,795,931          -                    

Total governmental activities
long-term liabilities 265,915,314$    18,241,004$   21,378,882$    262,777,436$    12,166,875$   
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Compensated absences for governmental activities typically have been liquidated from the general fund and the motor vehicle highway 
special revenue funds.  
 

G. Restricted Assets 
 
The balances of restricted asset accounts in the enterprise funds are as follows: 
 

 

Customer deposits 23,390$        
Revenue bond operations and maintenance account 45,273,636    

Total restricted assets 45,297,026$  

Due
Beginning Ending Within

Primary Government Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Business-type activities:
Revenue bonds payable:

Water Utility 11,505,000$     84,988,725$   500,000$         95,993,725$    1,435,000$      
Wastewater Utility 10,635,000      -                    380,000          10,255,000     395,000          

Total revenue bonds payable 22,140,000      84,988,725     880,000          106,248,725    1,830,000       

Bond anticipation notes 35,000,000      -                    35,000,000      -                    -                     
Notes 20,233,729      -                    685,945          19,547,784     723,711          
Compensated absences 132,170           271,597         258,986          144,781          144,781          

Total business-type activities
long-term liabilities 77,505,899$     85,260,322$   36,824,931$    125,941,290$  2,698,492$      
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H. Investment in Capital Assets Net of Related Debt 
 

The investment in capital assets net of related debt is composed of the outstanding debt associated with the acquisition of capital assets, 
less the cash on hand from bond issues at year-end.  The computation is as follows: 
 

 
I. Restatements and Reclassifications 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2008, certain changes have been made to the financial statements to more appropriately reflect finan-
cial activity of the primary government.  The following schedule presents a summary of restated beginning balances by fund type.  Prior 
period adjustments represent the following: 
 

Capital assets – the City had not previously included some of the completed roads from the 2004 Road Bond construction in the 
capital assets due to confusion over ownership of the roads with the Redevelopment Authority.  During 2008, City officials reviewed 
the capital asset records and determined the amount that needed to be included to make the City's asset records accurate.   

  

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities

Capital assets, net 487,899,644$    194,118,191$    

Related debt:
Bonds payable (general obligation, 

revenue, TIF, and redevelopment) 247,688,227     105,924,479     
Bond anticipation notes 2,995,000         -                      
Notes and loans 855,333            18,842,970       
Capital leases 2,718,160         -                      
Unused bond proceeds 68,406,045       1,463,334         

Total related debt 322,662,765     126,230,783     

Investment in capital assets, net of related debt 165,236,879$    67,887,408$     
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IV. Other Information 

 
A. Risk Management 

 
The primary government is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omis-
sions; job related illnesses or injuries to employees; medical benefits to employees, retirees, and dependents (excluding postemployment 
benefits); and natural disasters.  The risks of torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; job related ill-
nesses or injuries to employees; medical benefits to employees, retirees, and dependents (excluding postemployment benefits); and 
natural disasters are covered by commercial insurance from independent third parties.  Settled claims from these risks have not exceeded 
commercial insurance coverage for the past three years.  There were no significant reductions in insurance by major category of risk. 
 
Medical Benefits to Employees, Retirees and Dependents 
 
The primary government has chosen to establish a risk financing fund for risks associated with employee health claims.  The risk financing 
fund is accounted for in the Self-Insurance Fund, an internal service fund, where assets are set aside for claim settlements.  An excess 
policy through commercial insurance covers individual claims in excess of $50,000 per year.  Settled claims resulting from this risk did not 
exceed commercial insurance coverage in the past three years.  Amounts are paid into the insured funds and are available to pay claims, 
claim reserves, and administrative costs of the program.  Interfund premiums are based primarily upon the percentage of each fund's cur-
rent year payroll as it relates to total payroll and are reported as quasi-external interfund transactions.  Provisions are also made for un-
expected and unusual claims. 

  

Statement of 
Activities

Net assets - beginning - as previously stated 357,493,007$     

Prior period adjustment
Capital assets - roads 19,178,615        

Net assets - beginning - as restated 376,671,622$     
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Claim expenditures and liabilities of the fund are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be 
reasonably estimated.  These losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported (IBNRs).  Claim liabilities are 
calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends including frequency and amounts of pay outs and other eco-
nomic and social factors. 
 
Changes in the balance of claim liabilities during the past two years are as follows: 
 

 
Claims and judgments typically have been liquidated from the internal service fund. 
 

B. Postemployment Benefits 
 
In addition to the pension benefits described below, the primary government provides postemployment health benefits, as authorized by 
Indiana Code 5-10-8, to all employees who retire from the primary government with at least 20 years of services or who retire under dis-
ability.  Currently, 16 retirees meet these eligibility requirements.  The primary government's share of these postemployment benefits is as 
follows:  50% for 20 years of service plus 2% for each additional year over 20, up to a maximum of $600 per month.  If an employee retires 
as disabled, the City pays 100% of this benefit, not subject to the $600 limit.  Expenditures for those postemployment benefits are recog-
nized on a pay-as-you-go basis.  During the year ended December 31, 2008, expenditures of $89,367 were recognized for postemploy-
ment benefits. 

 
  

2008 2007

Unpaid claims, beginning of fiscal year 460,622$      440,683$      
Incurred claims and changes in estimates 7,967,842     6,883,168     
Claim payments 7,847,260     6,863,229     

Unpaid claims, end of fiscal year 581,204$      460,622$      
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Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation 
 
The City's annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the em-
ployer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45.  The ARC represents a level 
of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or 
funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years.  The following table shows the components of the City's annual OPEB cost for the 
year, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the City's net OPEB obligation to the plan: 
 

 
 
The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of the annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obligation for 2008 and 
the two preceding years were as follows: 

 

 
Year 

Ending 

Annual 
OPEB 
Cost 

Percentage 
of Annual 

OPEB Cost 
Contributed  

Net 
OPEB 

Obligation 
      
12-31-06 * *   * 
12-31-07  * *   * 
12-31-08 $ 1,704,676 23.5%  $ 1,304,676

 
*Information is not available for the two preceding years because this is the first year for reporting OPEB liability. 

  

Annual required contribution 1,704,676$    
Interest on net OPEB obligation -                   
Adjustment to annual required contribution -                   

Annual OPEB cost 1,704,676     
Contributions made 400,000        

Increase in net OPEB obligation 1,304,676     
Net OPEB obligation, beginning of year -                   

Net OPEB obligation, end of year 1,304,676$    
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Funded Status and Funding Progress 
 
As of December 31, 2008, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 23.5% funded.  The actuarial accrued liability for benefits 
was $12,403,032, and the actuarial value of assets was $0, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $12,403,032.  
The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $31,825,856, and the ratio of the UAAL to covered 
payroll was -39%. 
 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of 
occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  
Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual 
revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.  The Schedule of Funding 
Progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend 
information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities 
for benefits. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumption 
 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the 
plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs 
between the employer and plan members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are 
designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the 
long-term perspective of the calculations. 
 
In the December 31, 2008, actuarial valuation, the entry age actuarial cost method was used.  The actuarial assumptions included a 5.0% 
investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), which is a blended rate of the expected long-term investment returns on plan 
assets and on the employer's own investments calculated based on the funded level of the plan at the valuation date, and an annual 
healthcare cost trend rate of 10.0% initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 6.0% after 10 years.  The UAAL is being 
amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on an open basis.  The remaining amortization period at December 31, 2008, was 29 
years. 

 
C. Conduit Debt Obligation 
 

From time to time, the primary government has issued Economic Development Bonds to provide financial assistance to private-sector enti-
ties for the acquisition and construction of industrial and commercial facilities deemed to be in the public interest.  The bonds are secured 
by the property financed and are payable solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage loans.  Upon repayment of the 
bonds, ownership of the acquired facilities transfers to the private-sector entity served by the bond issuance.  Neither the primary govern-
ment, the State, nor any political subdivision thereof is obligated in any manner for the repayment of the bonds.  Accordingly, the bonds 
are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements. 
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At December 31, 2008, there were three series of Economic Development Bonds outstanding with an aggregate principal amount payable 
of $8,685,000. 
 

D. Pension Plans 
 
1. Agent Multiple-Employer and Single-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans 

 
a. Public Employees' Retirement Fund 

 
Plan Description 
 
The primary government contributes to the Indiana Public Employees' Retirement Fund (PERF), a defined benefit pension plan.  
PERF is an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system, which provides retirement benefits to plan members and 
beneficiaries.  All full-time employees are eligible to participate in the defined benefit plan.  State statutes (IC 5-10.2 and 5-10.3) 
govern, through the PERF Board, most requirements of the system and give the primary government authority to contribute to the 
plan.  The PERF retirement benefit consists of the pension provided by employer contributions plus an annuity provided by the 
member's annuity savings account.  The annuity savings account consists of member's contributions, set by state statute at 3% of 
compensation, plus the interest credited to the member's account.  The employer may elect to make the contributions on behalf of 
the member. 
 
PERF administers the plan and issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required sup-
plementary information for the plan as a whole and for its participants.  The report may be obtained by contacting: 
 

Public Employees' Retirement Fund 
Harrison Building, Room 800 
143 West Market Street 
Indianapolis, IN  46204 
Ph. (317) 233-4162 
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Funding Policy and Annual Pension Cost 
 
PERF members are required to contribute 3% of their annual covered salary.  The City is required to contribute at an actuarially 
determined rate; the current rate is 6.75% of annual covered payroll.  The contribution requirements of plan members and the City 
are established and may be amended by the PERF Board of Trustees.  The contribution requirements of plan members for PERF 
are established by the board of Trustees of PERF.  The City's annual pension cost and related information, as provided by the 
actuary, is presented in this note. 
 
Information to segregate the assets/liabilities and the actuarial study figures between the primary government and the Utilities is 
not available.  Therefore, the prepayment for Net Pension Obligation (NPO) is considered an asset of the primary government and 
is presented in the governmental activities of the financial statements and is not presented as an asset/liability of the proprietary 
funds. 
 

b. 1925 Police Officers' Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description 
 
The primary government contributes to the 1925 Police Officers' Pension Plan which is a single-employer defined benefit pension 
plan.  The plan is administered by the local pension board as authorized by state statute (IC 36-8-6).  The plan provides retire-
ment, disability, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.  The plan was established by the plan administrator, as 
provided by state statute.  The plan administrator does not issue a publicly available financial report that includes financial state-
ments and required supplementary information of the plan. 
 
Funding Policy 
 
Plan members are required by state statute (IC 36-8-6-4) to contribute an amount equal to six percent (6%) of the salary of a first 
class patrolman.  The City is required to contribute an amount equal to the funding deficit of the difference between receipts of the 
fund and the required disbursements of the fund (pay-as-you-go basis); the amount contributed for 2008 is $250,495.  The contri-
bution requirements of plan members and the City are established by the state statute.  This entire amount is contributed by the 
State of Indiana on behalf of the City.  On behalf contributions from the State of Indiana approximates the amount paid out for 
benefits. 
  
Annual Pension Cost 
 
For 2008, the City's annual pension cost is $345,500 for the 1925 Police Officers' Pension Plan. 
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c. 1937 Firefighters' Pension Plan 

 
Plan Description 
 
The primary government contributes to the 1937 Firefighters' Pension Plan which is a single-employer defined benefit pension 
plan.  The plan is administered by the local pension board as authorized by state statute (IC 36-8-7).  The plan provides retire-
ment, disability, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.  The plan was established by the plan administrator, as 
provided by state statute.  The plan administrator does not issue a publicly available financial report that includes financial state-
ments and required supplementary information of the plan. 
 
Funding Policy 
 
Plan members are required by state statute (IC 36-8-6-4) to contribute an amount equal to six percent (6%) of the salary of a first 
class firefighter.  The City is required to contribute an amount equal to the funding deficit of the difference between receipts of the 
fund and the required disbursements of the fund (pay-as-you-go basis); the amount contributed for 2008 is $243,633.  The 
contribution requirements of plan members and the City are established by the state statute.  This entire amount is contributed by 
the State of Indiana on behalf of the City.  On behalf contributions from the State of Indiana approximates the amount paid out for 
benefits. 
  
Annual Pension Cost 
 
For 2008, the City's annual pension cost is $556,400 for the 1937 Firefighters' Pension Plan. 
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Actuarial Information for the Above Plans 
 

 

1925 Police 1937
Officers' Firefighters'

PERF Pension Pension

Annual required contribution 993,521$      396,800$        621,100$       
Interest on net pension obligation (10,655)         196,300         247,000         
Adjustment to annual required contribution 12,143          (196,087)        (189,660)        

Annual pension cost 995,009        397,013         678,440         
Contributions made 1,019,381     250,495         243,633         

Increase in net pension obligation (24,372)         146,518         434,807         
Net pension obligation, beginning of year (146,972)       3,219,705       3,994,901      

Net pension obligation, end of year (171,344)$     3,366,223$     4,429,708$     
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  1925 Police 1937 
  Officers' Firefighters' 
 PERF Pension Pension 
Contribution rates:    

City 5.25% 21% 21% 
Plan members 3% 6% 6% 

Actuarial valuation date 07-01-08 01-01-09 01-01-09 
Actuarial cost method Entry age Entry age Entry age 
Amortization method Level percentage

of projected 
payroll, closed 

Level percentage
of projected 

payroll, closed 

Level percentage
of projected 

payroll, closed 
Amortization period 30 years 30 years 30 years 
Amortization period (from date) 07-01-97 01-01-05 01-01-05 
Asset valuation method 75% of expected 

actuarial value 
plus 25% of 
market value 

4 year 
phase in of 

unrealized and 
realized capital 

4 year 
phase in of 

unrealized and 
realized capital 

 
Actuarial Assumptions      
      
Investment rate of return 7.25%  4%  6% 
Projected future salary increases:      

Total 5%  4%  4% 
Attributed to inflation 4%  4%  4% 
Attributed to merit/seniority 1%  0%  0% 

Cost-of-living adjustments 2%  2.75%/4%*  2.75%/4%* 
 
      *2.75% for converted members; 4% for nonconverted members 
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Three Year Trend Information 
 

  
 

Year Ending

Annual 
Pension Cost 

(APC) 

 Percentage
of APC 

Contributed

 Net 
Pension 

Obligation 
        
PERF  06-30-06 $ 740,135  90%  $ (206,209)

 06-30-07  849,454  93%   (146,972)
 06-30-08  995,009  102%   (171,344)
       
1925 Police Officers'  12-31-06 331,600  98%  3,265,205

Pension Plan 12-31-07  342,200  98%   3,271,218
 12-31-08  345,500  73%   3,366,223

     
1937 Firefighters'        

Pension Plan 12-31-06 590,900  51%  3,832,801
 12-31-07  601,000  53%   4,116,941
 12-31-08  556,400  44%   4,429,708

 
Membership in the 1925 Police Officers' Pension Plan and the 1937 Firefighters' Pension Plan at January 1, 2008, was comprised of 
the following: 
 

 1925 Police 
Officers' 
Pension 

 1937 
Firefighters' 

Pension 
Retires and beneficiaries currently 

receiving benefits 
 

14 
 
 14

Terminated employees entitled to but 
not yet receiving benefits 

 
- 

 
-

Current active employees -  1
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Funded Status and Funding Progress for the Above Plans: 
 
The funded status of each plan as of December 31, 2008, except for PERF which is as of June 30, 2008, is as follows: 
 

 
Statements of Fiduciary Net Assets: 

 

 

1925 Police 1937
Officers' Firefighters'

Assets Pension Pension

Cash and cash equivalents (225,127)$     42,588$        

Investments at fair value:
U.S. Government Securities 3,981,607     4,787,429     

Interest receivable 35,137          41,833          

Total assets 3,791,617     4,871,850     

Net Assets

Held in trust for:
Employees' pension benefits 3,791,617     4,871,850     

Total net assets 3,791,617$    4,871,850$    

Actuarial Unfunded AAL
Actuarial Accrued Annual as a Percentage
Value of Liability (AAL) Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered

Retirement Plan Assets Entry Age AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll
Plan (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

PERF 9,862,796$ 12,736,157$   (2,873,361)$ 77% 15,563,727$ (18%)
1925 Police Officers' Pension Plan 3,830,180   5,395,300       (1,565,120)   71% -               0%
1937 Firefighters' Pension Plan 4,905,722   8,085,300       (3,179,578)   61% 114,600        (2,775%)
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Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets: 
 

 
  

1925 Police 1937
Officers' Firefighters'

Additions Pension Pension

Contributions:
   Employer 250,495$        243,633$        

Employee 2,330             -                    

Total contributions 252,825          243,633          

Investment income:
Net increase in fair value of investments 11,279 13,320
Interest 152,758          187,164          

Net investment income 164,037          200,484          

     Total additions 416,862          444,117          

Deductions

Benefits 453,595          476,697          
Administrative expenses 1,830             1,292             

     Total deductions 455,425          477,989          

     Changes in net assets (38,563)           (33,872)           

Net assets - beginning 3,830,180       4,905,722       

Net assets - ending 3,791,617$     4,871,850$     
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2. Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
 
1977 Police Officers' and Firefighters' Pension and Disability Fund 
 
Plan Description 
 
The primary government contributes to the 1977 Police Officers' and Firefighters' Pension and Disability Fund, a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Indiana Public Employees' Retirement Plan (PERF) for all police officers 
and firefighters hired after April 30, 1977. 
 

State statute (IC 36-8-8) regulates the operations of the system, including benefits, vesting and requirements for contributions by em-
ployers and by employees.  Covered employees may retire at age 55 with 20 years of service.  An employee with 20 years of service 
may leave service, but will not receive benefits until reaching age 55.  The plan also provides for death and disability benefits. 
 
PERF issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the 
plan as a whole and for its participants.  That report may be obtained by contacting: 
 

Public Employees' Retirement Fund 
Harrison Building, Room 800 
143 West Market Street 
Indianapolis, IN  46204 
Ph. (317) 233-4162 

 
Funding Policy and Annual Pension Costs 
 
Plan members are required to contribute 6% of the first-class police officers' and firefighters' salary and the primary government is to 
contribute at an actuarially determined rate.  The current rate, which has not changed since the inception of the plan, is 21% of the 
first-class police officers' and firefighters' salary.  The contribution requirements of plan members and the primary government are 
established by the Board of Trustees of PERF.  The primary government's contributions to the plan for the years ending December 31, 
2008, 2007, and 2006, were $2,954,298, $2,834,114, and $2,717,526, respectively, equal to the required contributions for each year. 
 

E. Subsequent Events 
 

Beginning in 2009, the State Pension Relief Fund shall pay to each unit of local government with Pre-1977 Local Police and Fire Fighter 
Pension obligations, the total amount of pension, disability, and survivor benefit payments.  The Pre-1977 funds include the 1925 Police 
Pension Fund, the 1937 Firefighters' Fund, and the 1953 Police Pension Fund.  For property taxes first due and payable after December 
31, 2008, the Department of Local Government Finance shall reduce the maximum permissible property tax levy of any civil taxing unit 
and special service district by the amount of the payment to be made in 2009 by the State for the obligations. 
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Public Employees' Retirement Fund
Unfunded

Actuarial AAL as a
Actuarial Accrued Percentage

Actuarial Value of Liability Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Assets (AAL) AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (a-b) (a/b) (c) ((a-b)/c)

07-01-06 7,112,631$      8,960,229$      (1,847,598)$     79% 12,180,445$    15%
07-01-07 8,323,758        10,713,926      (2,390,168)       78% 13,742,720      17%
07-01-08 9,862,796        12,736,157      (2,873,361)       77% 15,563,727      18%

1925 Police Officers' Pension Plan
Unfunded

Actuarial AAL as a
Actuarial Accrued Percentage

Actuarial Value of Liability Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Assets (AAL) AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (a-b) (a/b) (c) ((a-b)/c)

01-01-03 3,472,830$      7,568,300$      (4,095,470)$     46% 235,700$         (1,738%)
01-01-04 3,580,789        8,161,200        (4,580,411)       44% 197,900           (2,315%)
01-01-05 3,571,842        6,253,000        (2,681,158)       57% 50,800             (5,278%)
01-01-06 3,472,229        5,254,400        (1,782,171)       66% -                       0%
01-01-07 3,595,904        5,376,600        (1,780,696)       67% -                       0%
01-01-08 3,830,180        5,395,300        (1,565,120)       71% -                       0%

1937 Firefighters' Pension Plan
Unfunded

Actuarial AAL as a
Actuarial Accrued Percentage

Actuarial Value of Liability Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Assets (AAL) AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (a-b) (a/b) (c) ((a-b)/c)

01-01-03 4,260,736$      6,972,000$      (2,711,264)$     61% 235,700$         (1,150%)
01-01-04 4,437,783        7,473,700        (3,035,917)       59% 197,900           (1,534%)
01-01-05 4,453,497        6,832,800        (2,379,303)       65% 152,500           (1,560%)
01-01-06 4,475,485        8,449,700        (3,974,215)       53% 161,000           (2,468%)
01-01-07 4,654,741        8,519,200        (3,864,459)       55% 167,300           (2,310%)
01-01-08 4,905,722        8,085,300        (3,179,578)       61% 114,600           (2,775%)

Other Postemployment Benefits
Unfunded

Actuarial AAL as a
Actuarial Accrued Percentage

Actuarial Value of Liability Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Assets (AAL) AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (a-b) (a/b) (c) ((a-b)/c)

01-01-05 * * * * * *
01-01-06 * * * * * *
01-01-07 * * * * * *
01-01-08 -$                     12,403,032$    (12,403,032)$   0% 31,825,856$    (039%)

*Information is not available

CITY OF CARMEL
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULES OF FUNDING PROGRESS

The notes to the required supplementary information are an integral part of the required supplementary information.
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Annual
Required

Year Contribution
Ending (ARC) City State

12-31-03 903,400$              32% 17%
12-31-04 978,000                16% 14%
12-31-05 452,800                3% 40%
12-31-06 375,800                31% 55%
12-31-07 389,800                26% 60%
12-31-08 396,800                0% 63%

Annual
Required

Year Contribution
Ending (ARC) City State

12-31-03 825,500$              30% 23%
12-31-04 896,100                13% 20%
12-31-05 512,200                51% 37%
12-31-06 639,000                19% 28%
12-31-07 656,800                18% 30%
12-31-08 621,100                0% 39%

Other Postemployment Benefits
Annual

Required
Year Contribution

Ending (ARC) City State

12-31-03 * * *
12-31-04 * * *
12-31-05 * * *
12-31-06 * * *
12-31-07 * * *
12-31-08 1,704,676$           0% 0%

*Information is not available.

The notes to the required supplementary information are an
integral part of the required supplementary information.

1925 Police Officers' Pension Plan

Percentage of ARC

CITY OF CARMEL
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULES OF CONTRIBUTIONS FROM THE

EMPLOYER AND OTHER CONTRIBUTING ENTITIES

Contributed

Percentage of ARC
Contributed

Contributed
Percentage of ARC

1937 Firefighters' Pension Plan
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Special Debt Capital
Assets Revenue Service Projects Totals

Cash and cash equivalents 9,085,149$          1,939,049$          2,920,894$          13,945,092$        
Receivables:

Taxes 356,302               175,216               51,297                 582,815               
Accounts 1,039,407            -                           -                           1,039,407            
Intergovernmental 507,630               29,362                 25,856                 562,848               

Total assets 10,988,488$        2,143,627$          2,998,047$          16,130,162$        

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 4,691$                 -$                         -$                         4,691$                 
Accrued payroll and withholdings payable 299,250               -                           -                           299,250               
Unavailable revenue 416,010               204,578               77,153                 697,741               

Total liabilities 719,951               204,578               77,153                 1,001,682            

Fund balances:
Unreserved, reported in:

Special revenue funds 10,268,537          -                           -                           10,268,537          
Debt service funds -                           1,939,049            -                           1,939,049            
Capital projects funds -                           -                           2,920,894            2,920,894            

Total fund balances 10,268,537          1,939,049            2,920,894            15,128,480          

Total liabilities and fund balances 10,988,488$        2,143,627$          2,998,047$          16,130,162$        

        

CITY OF CARMEL

December 31, 2008

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET -
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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Special Debt Capital
Revenue Service Projects Totals

Revenues:
Property taxes 7,881,389$          4,306,170$          1,136,160$          13,323,719$        
Income taxes 523,948               -                           -                           523,948               
Licenses and permits 22,700                 -                           -                           22,700                 
Intergovernmental 3,585,414            315,905               315,827               4,217,146            
Charges for services 7,784,403            -                           -                           7,784,403            
Fines and forfeits 1,832,410            -                           -                           1,832,410            
Other:

Interest on investments 162,710               18,109                 100,815               281,634               
Sale of property 861,156               -                           -                           861,156               
Donations 116,451               -                           -                           116,451               
Reimbursements 397,841               1,500                   -                           399,341               

Total revenues 23,168,422          4,641,684            1,552,802            29,362,908          

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 1,876,518            12,013                 257,867               2,146,398            
Public safety 296,281               -                           -                           296,281               
Highways and streets 9,482,838            -                           -                           9,482,838            
Economic development -                           -                           20,392                 20,392                 
Culture and recreation 9,686,070            -                           24,855                 9,710,925            

Debt service:
Principal -                           1,135,000            -                           1,135,000            
Interest -                           851,412               -                           851,412               

Capital outlay:
General government -                           -                           1,388,570            1,388,570            
Public safety 664,810               -                           -                           664,810               
Highways and streets 2,164,064            -                           772,737               2,936,801            
Culture and recreation 138,073               -                           -                           138,073               

Total expenditures 24,308,654          1,998,425            2,464,421            28,771,500          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (1,140,232)           2,643,259            (911,619)              591,408               

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 1,024,337            1,739,201            -                           2,763,538            
Transfers out -                           (3,949,000)           (650,000)              (4,599,000)           

Total other financing sources and uses 1,024,337            (2,209,799)           (650,000)              (1,835,462)           

Net change in fund balances (115,895)              433,460               (1,561,619)           (1,244,054)           

Fund balance - beginning 10,384,432          1,505,589            4,482,513            16,372,534          

Fund balances - ending 10,268,537$        1,939,049$          2,920,894$          15,128,480$        

CITY OF CARMEL

For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND OTHER CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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Park and Local Law
Motor Recreation Tree City Enforcement Law

Vehicle Local Road Park Nonreverting Grant Brookshire Continuing Enforcement
Assets Highway and Street Impact Operating Project Golf Course Education Aid VII

Cash and cash equivalents 2,885,021$        901,758$           459,318$           537,110$           56,360$             39,305$             125,085$           212,785$           
Receivables:

Taxes 356,302             -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Accounts -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Intergovernmental 338,692             168,938             -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total assets 3,580,015$        1,070,696$        459,318$           537,110$           56,360$             39,305$             125,085$           212,785$           

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 3,308$               -$                       -$                       806$                  -$                       -$                       -$                       577$                  
Accrued payroll and withholdings payable 141,102             -                         -                         156,649             -                         -                         -                         -                         
Unavailable revenue 416,010             -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total liabilities 560,420             -                         -                         157,455             -                         -                         -                         577                    

Fund balances:
Unreserved, reported in:

Special revenue funds 3,019,595          1,070,696          459,318             379,655             56,360               39,305               125,085             212,208             

Total fund balances 3,019,595          1,070,696          459,318             379,655             56,360               39,305               125,085             212,208             

Total liabilities and fund balances 3,580,015$        1,070,696$        459,318$           537,110$           56,360$             39,305$             125,085$           212,785$           

Continued on next page

CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
December 31, 2008
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Emergency Community Court
Ambulance Fire Police Park Relations Records Grant Rainy

Assets and Fire Gift Gift Gift Gift Perpetuation Fund Day

Cash and cash equivalents 197,431$           4,828$               30,539$             334,457$           821$                  39,982$             536,970$           1,420,497$        
Receivables:

Taxes -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Accounts 1,039,407          -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Intergovernmental -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total assets 1,236,838$        4,828$               30,539$             334,457$           821$                  39,982$             536,970$           1,420,497$        

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Accounts payable -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       
Accrued payroll and withholdings payable -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Unavailable revenue -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total liabilities -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Fund balances:
Unreserved, reported in:

Special revenue funds 1,236,838          4,828                 30,539               334,457             821                    39,982               536,970             1,420,497          

Total fund balances 1,236,838          4,828                 30,539               334,457             821                    39,982               536,970             1,420,497          

Total liabilities and fund balances 1,236,838$        4,828$               30,539$             334,457$           821$                  39,982$             536,970$           1,420,497$        

Continued on next page
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CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
December 31, 2008
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Economic Housing Barrett Deferral City Court
Assets Development Authority Law Fund Thoroughfare Court Interpreter Totals

Cash and cash equivalents 33,158$             58,291$             162,701$           472,694$           517,880$           55,563$             2,595$               9,085,149$        
Receivables:

Taxes -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         356,302             
Accounts -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,039,407          
Intergovernmental -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         507,630             

Total assets 33,158$             58,291$             162,701$           472,694$           517,880$           55,563$             2,595$               10,988,488$      

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Accounts payable -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       4,691$               
Accrued payroll and withholdings payable -                         -                         -                         1,499                 -                         -                         -                         299,250             
Unavailable revenue -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         416,010             

Total liabilities -                         -                         -                         1,499                 -                         -                         -                         719,951             

Fund balances:
Unreserved, reported in:

Special revenue funds 33,158               58,291               162,701             471,195             517,880             55,563               2,595                 10,268,537        

Total fund balances 33,158               58,291               162,701             471,195             517,880             55,563               2,595                 10,268,537        

Total liabilities and fund balances 33,158$             58,291$             162,701$           472,694$           517,880$           55,563$             2,595$               10,988,488$      

(Continued)

CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
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Redevelopment
2002 2004 Commission Civic Square

Lease Bond and Bond and Debt Building
Assets Rental Interest Interest Service Corporation Totals

Cash and cash equivalents 43,963$               2,133$                 191,152$             1,199,541$          502,260$             1,939,049$          
Receivables:

Taxes 36,465                 -                           -                           138,751               -                           175,216               
Intergovernmental 6,111                   -                           -                           23,251                 -                           29,362                 

Total assets 86,539$               2,133$                 191,152$             1,361,543$          502,260$             2,143,627$          

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Unavailable revenue 42,576$               -$                         -$                         162,002$             -$                         204,578$             

Total liabilities 42,576                 -                           -                           162,002               -                           204,578               

Fund balances:
Unreserved, reported in:

Debt service funds 43,963                 2,133                   191,152               1,199,541            502,260               1,939,049            

Total fund balances 43,963                 2,133                   191,152               1,199,541            502,260               1,939,049            

Total liabilities and fund balances 86,539$               2,133$                 191,152$             1,361,543$          502,260$             2,143,627$          

CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS
December 31, 2008
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CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
December 31, 2008

 

Cumulative Cumulative Cumulative Civic
Capital Capital Capital 2002 Bond Square Land

Assets Improvement Development Storm Sewer Construction Construction Acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents 182,077$           47,743$             2,011,985$        364$                  592$                  353,418$           
Receivables:

Taxes -                         -                         51,297               -                         -                         -                         
Intergovernmental 17,260               -                         8,596                 -                         -                         -                         

Total assets 199,337$           47,743$             2,071,878$        364$                  592$                  353,418$           

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Unavailable revenue 17,260$             -$                       59,893$             -$                       -$                       -$                       

Total liabilities 17,260               -                         59,893               -                         -                         -                         

Unreserved, reported in:
Capital projects funds 182,077             47,743               2,011,985          364                    592                    353,418             

Total fund balances 182,077             47,743               2,011,985          364                    592                    353,418             

Total liabilities and fund balances 199,337$           47,743$             2,071,878$        364$                  592$                  353,418$           

Continued on next page
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1997 2004 Redevelopment
Road Road Park Commission

Assets Construction Construction Capital Capital Projects Totals

Cash and cash equivalents 426$                  3$                      324,244$           42$                      2,920,894$          
Receivables:

Taxes -                         -                         -                         -                           51,297                 
Intergovernmental -                         -                         -                         -                           25,856                 

Total assets 426$                  3$                      324,244$           42$                      2,998,047$          

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Unavailable revenue -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                         77,153$               

Total liabilities -                         -                         -                         -                           77,153                 

Unreserved, reported in:
Capital projects funds 426                    3                        324,244             42                        2,920,894            

Total fund balances 426                    3                        324,244             42                        2,920,894            

Total liabilities and fund balances 426$                  3$                      324,244$           42$                      2,998,047$          

(Continued)

CITY OF CARMEL

December 31, 2008

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
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Park and Local Law
Motor Recreation Tree City Enforcement Law

Vehicle Local Road Park Nonreverting Grant Brookshire Continuing Enforcement
Highway and Street Impact Operating Project Golf Course Education Aid VII

Revenues:
Property taxes 7,881,389$        -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       
Income taxes -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Licenses and permits -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         22,700               -                         
Intergovernmental 2,548,173          941,363             -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Charges for services -                         -                         459,249             5,474,323          -                         589,619             10,717               -                         
Fines and forfeits -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         24,576               80,492               
Other:

Interest on investments 21,778               35,846               23,460               9,803                 1,187                 841                    1,889                 4,769                 
Sale of property 2,548                 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Donations -                         -                         -                         77,250               -                         -                         -                         -                         
Reimbursements 26,377               323,335             -                         20,037               -                         13,363               2,501                 -                         

Total revenues 10,480,265        1,300,544          482,709             5,581,413          1,187                 603,823             62,383               85,261               

Expenditures:
Current:

General government -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Public safety -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         30,497               135,464             
Highways and streets 8,701,710          780,944             -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Culture and recreation -                         -                         2,312,577          6,497,000          5,660                 754,703             -                         -                         

Capital outlay
 Public safety -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         577                    
 Highways and streets 1,005,403          1,158,661          -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Culture and recreation -                         -                         4,810                 50,386               -                         82,877               -                         -                         

Total expenditures 9,707,113          1,939,605          2,317,387          6,547,386          5,660                 837,580             30,497               136,041             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 773,152             (639,061)            (1,834,678)         (965,973)            (4,473)                (233,757)            31,886               (50,780)              

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in -                         -                         -                         650,000             -                         91,953               -                         -                         

Total other financing sources and uses -                         -                         -                         650,000             -                         91,953               -                         -                         

Net change in fund balances 773,152             (639,061)            (1,834,678)         (315,973)            (4,473)                (141,804)            31,886               (50,780)              

Fund balances - beginning 2,246,443          1,709,757          2,293,996          695,628             60,833               181,109             93,199               262,988             

Fund balances - ending 3,019,595$        1,070,696$        459,318$           379,655$           56,360$             39,305$             125,085$           212,208$           
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Emergency Community Court
Ambulance Fire Police Park Relations Records Grant Rainy

and Fire Gift Gift Gift Gift Perpetuation Fund Day
Revenues:

Property taxes -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       
Income taxes -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         523,948             
Licenses and permits -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Intergovernmental -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         95,878               -                         
Charges for services 1,164,211          -                         -                         -                         -                         13,976               -                         -                         
Fines and forfeits -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Other:

Interest on investments 1,914                 96                      688                    8,179                 32                      625                    9,977                 20,378               
Sale of Property -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         858,608             
Donations -                         10,436               15,281               1,684                 4,100                 -                         7,700                 -                         
Reimbursements 1,000                 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         11,228               

Total revenues 1,167,125          10,532               15,969               9,863                 4,132                 14,601               113,555             1,414,162          

Expenditures:
Current:

General government -                         -                         -                         -                         4,815                 -                         297,468             -                         
Public safety 47,564               9,993                 18,717               -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Highways and streets -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Culture and recreation -                         -                         -                         116,130             -                         -                         -                         -                         

Capital outlay
 Public safety 646,523             -                         -                         -                         -                         1,862                 -                         -                         
 Highways and streets -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Culture and recreation -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total expenditures 694,087             9,993                 18,717               116,130             4,815                 1,862                 297,468             -                         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 473,038             539                    (2,748)                (106,267)            (683)                   12,739               (183,913)            1,414,162          

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         282,384             -                         

Total other financing sources and uses -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         282,384             -                         

Net change in fund balances 473,038             539                    (2,748)                (106,267)            (683)                   12,739               98,471               1,414,162          

Fund balances - beginning 763,800             4,289                 33,287               440,724             1,504                 27,243               438,499             6,335                 

Fund balances - ending 1,236,838$        4,828$               30,539$             334,457$           821$                  39,982$             536,970$           1,420,497$        
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Economic Housing Barrett Deferral City Court
Development Authority Law Fund Thoroughfare Court Interpreter Totals

Revenues:
Property taxes -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       7,881,389$        
Income taxes -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         523,948             
Licenses and permits -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         22,700               
Intergovernmental -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         3,585,414          
Charges for services -                         -                         -                         -                         69,748               -                         2,560                 7,784,403          
Fines and forfeits -                         -                         -                         134,563             -                         1,592,779          -                         1,832,410          
Other:

Interest on investments 645                    1,134                 1,094                 8,979                 9,376                 -                         20                      162,710             
Sale of Property -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         861,156             
Donations -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         116,451             
Reimbursements -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         397,841             

Total revenues 645                    1,134                 1,094                 143,542             79,124               1,592,779          2,580                 23,168,422        

Expenditures:
Current:

General government -                         -                         582                    -                         -                         1,573,653          -                         1,876,518          
Public safety -                         -                         -                         54,046               -                         -                         -                         296,281             
Highways and streets -                         -                         -                         -                         184                    -                         -                         9,482,838          
Culture and recreation -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         9,686,070          

Capital outlay
 Public safety -                         -                         -                         15,848               -                         -                         -                         664,810             
 Highways and streets -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         2,164,064          
Culture and recreation -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         138,073             

Total expenditures -                         -                         582                    69,894               184                    1,573,653          -                         24,308,654        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 645                    1,134                 512                    73,648               78,940               19,126               2,580                 (1,140,232)         

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,024,337          

Total other financing sources and uses -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,024,337          

Net change in fund balances 645                    1,134                 512                    73,648               78,940               19,126               2,580                 (115,895)            

Fund balances - beginning 32,513               57,157               162,189             397,547             438,940             36,437               15                      10,384,432        

Fund balances - ending 33,158$             58,291$             162,701$           471,195$           517,880$           55,563$             2,595$               10,268,537$      
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Redevelopment
2002 2004 Commission Civic Square

Lease Bond and Bond and Bond and Building
Rental Interest Interest Interest Corporation Totals

Revenues:
Property taxes 803,101$             -$                         3,056,098$          446,971$             -$                         4,306,170$          
Intergovernmental 65,744                 -                           250,161               -                           -                           315,905               
Other:

Interest on investments 807                      42                        657                      14,571                 2,032                   18,109                 
Reimbursements -                           -                           1,500                   -                           -                           1,500                   

Total revenues 869,652               42                        3,308,416            461,542               2,032                   4,641,684            

Expenditures:
Current:

General government -                           -                           -                           4,566                   7,447                   12,013                 
Debt service:

Principal -                           -                           -                           420,000               715,000               1,135,000            
Interest -                           -                           -                           744,581               106,831               851,412               

Total expenditures -                           -                           -                           1,169,147            829,278               1,998,425            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 869,652               42                        3,308,416            (707,605)              (827,246)              2,643,259            

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in -                           -                           -                           910,201               829,000               1,739,201            
Transfers out (829,000)              -                           (3,120,000)           -                           -                           (3,949,000)           

Total other financing sources and uses (829,000)              -                           (3,120,000)           910,201               829,000               (2,209,799)           

Net change in fund balances 40,652                 42                        188,416               202,596               1,754                   433,460               

Fund balances - beginning 3,311                   2,091                   2,736                   996,945               500,506               1,505,589            

Fund balances - ending 43,963$               2,133$                 191,152$             1,199,541$          502,260$             1,939,049$          
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CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

Cumulative Cumulative Cumulative Civic
Capital Capital Capital 2002 Bond Square Land

Improvement Development Storm Sewer Construction Construction Acquisition
Revenues:

Property taxes -$                         -$                         1,136,160$          -$                         -$                         -$                         
Intergovernmental 223,340               -                           92,487                 -                           -                           -                           
Other:

Interest on investments 6,820                   4,875                   32,646                 2,119                   11                        6,875                   

Total revenues 230,160               4,875                   1,261,293            2,119                   11                        6,875                   

Expenditures:
      Current:

General government 8,188                   203,925               45,754                 -                           -                           -                           
Economic development -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           
Culture and recreation -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

Capital outlay:
General government 531,220               61,531                 795,819               -                           -                           -                           
Highways and streets -                           -                           -                           128,959               -                           -                           

Total expenditures 539,408               265,456               841,573               128,959               -                           -                           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (309,248)              (260,581)              419,720               (126,840)              11                        6,875                   

Other financing sources:
Transfers out -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

Total other financing sources and uses -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

Net change in fund balances (309,248)              (260,581)              419,720               (126,840)              11                        6,875                   

Fund balances - beginning 491,325               308,324               1,592,265            127,204               581                      346,543               

Fund balances - ending 182,077$             47,743$               2,011,985$          364$                    592$                    353,418$             
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CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

(Continued)

1997 2004 Redevelopment
Road Road Park Commission

Construction Construction Capital Construction Totals
Revenues:

Property taxes -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         1,136,160$          
Intergovernmental -                           -                           -                           -                           315,827               
Other:

Interest on investments 8                          28,358                 18,966                 137                      100,815               

Total revenues 8                          28,358                 18,966                 137                      1,552,802            

Expenditures:
      Current:

General government -                           -                           -                           -                           257,867               
Economic development -                           -                           -                           20,392                 20,392                 
Culture and recreation -                           -                           24,855                 -                           24,855                 

Capital outlay:
General government -                           -                           -                           -                           1,388,570            
Highways and streets -                           643,778               -                           -                           772,737               

Total expenditures -                           643,778               24,855                 20,392                 2,464,421            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 8                          (615,420)              (5,889)                  (20,255)                (911,619)              

Other financing sources:
Transfers out -                           -                           (650,000)              -                           (650,000)              

Total other financing sources and uses -                           -                           (650,000)              -                           (650,000)              

Net change in fund balances 8                          (615,420)              (655,889)              (20,255)                (1,561,619)           

Fund balances - beginning 418                      615,423               980,133               20,297                 4,482,513            

Fund balances - ending 426$                    3$                        324,244$             42$                      2,920,894$          
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Police Fire 
Assets Pension Pension Totals

Cash and cash equivalents (225,127)$          42,588$             (182,539)$          

Investments at fair value:
U.S. Government securities 3,981,607          4,787,429          8,769,036          

Interest Receivable 35,137               41,833               76,970               

Total assets 3,791,617          4,871,850          8,663,467          

Net Assets

Held in trust for:
Employees' pension benefits 3,791,617          4,871,850          8,663,467          

Total net assets 3,791,617$        4,871,850$        8,663,467$        

Pension Trust Funds

CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
December 31, 2008
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Police Fire
Additions Pension Pension Totals

Contributions:
Employer 250,495$             243,633$             494,128$             
Plan members 2,330                   -                           2,330                   

Total contributions 252,825               243,633               496,458               

Investment income:
Net increase in fair value of investments 2,516                   2,123                   4,639                   
Interest 161,521               198,361               359,882               

Net investment income 164,037               200,484               364,521               

Total additions 416,862               444,117               860,979               

Deductions

Benefits 453,595               476,697               930,292               
Administrative expense 1,830                   1,292                   3,122                   

Total deductions 455,425               477,989               933,414               

Changes in net assets (38,563)                (33,872)                (72,435)                

Net assets - beginning 3,830,180            4,905,722            8,735,902            

Net assets - ending 3,791,617$          4,871,850$          8,663,467$          

      

CITY OF CARMEL
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2008
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Payroll
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1, 2008 137,133$             
     Additions 44,952,272          
     Deductions (44,386,527)         

Cash and cash equivalents, December 31, 2008 702,878$             

Liabilities:
Withholdings payable, January 1, 2008 137,133$             
     Additions 44,952,272          
     Deductions (44,386,527)         

Withholdings payable, December 31, 2008 702,878$             

CITY OF CARMEL
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

AGENCY FUND
For The Year Ended December 31, 2008
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CITY OF CARMEL 
AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 

 
 
 
OVERDRAWN CASH BALANCES 
 
 The cash balance of the Water Operating and Water Availability funds were overdrawn by $336,136 and $275,503, respectively, at 
December 31, 2008. 
  
 The cash balance of any fund may not be reduced below zero.  (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Cities and 
Towns, Chapter 7) 
 
 
ANNUAL REPORT 
  
 The City/Town Annual Report prepared by the Clerk-Treasurer's office and advertised for 2008 was incorrect.  The following funds were 
omitted from the report. 

 
 IC 5-3-1-3(a) states in part:  "Within sixty (60) days after the expiration of each calendar year, the fiscal officer of each civil city and town in 
Indiana shall publish an annual report of the receipts and expenditures of the city or town . . ." 
 
 
PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS 
 
 Reports filed with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and the Indiana Department of Revenue (IDR), during the 2008 audit period, were 
not always accurate.  There were variances between the wages reported on the 941 forms filed with the IRS and the W-2 forms filed with the 
Social Security Administration of $19,092.79.  During the course of the audit, it was discovered that a portion of this variance was due to Short-
Term Disability payments, of $15,173, being properly included on the employees' W-2 forms, but were not included in the 941 reports.  The 
remaining balance, of $3,919.79, was still being researched by the City's payroll administrator for a possible solution.   
  

Balance Balance
January 1 Receipts Disbursements December 31

Payroll 137,133$          44,952,272$     44,386,527$     702,878$          
2004 Roadway Construction 615,423            28,358             643,778            3                     
2006 Water Construction 1,877,858         23,562             1,901,420         -                      
2008 Water Construction -                      122,205,390     80,449,801       41,755,589       

Total Omitted Funds 2,630,414$       167,209,582$    127,381,526$    42,458,470$     
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CITY OF CARMEL 
AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 
 Also, there were variances between the monthly WH-1s and the annual WH-3 filed with the IDR totaling $204.87.  We noted that an 
employee-withheld $120 in State tax was not reported on the employee's W-2 form.  An additional variance of $84.87 was still being researched 
by the City's payroll administrator for a possible solution.  
 
 Political subdivisions are required to comply with all grant agreements, rules, regulations, bulletins, directives, letters, letter rulings, and 
filing requirements concerning reports and other procedural matters of federal and state agencies, including opinions of the Attorney General of 
the State of Indiana, and court decisions.  Governmental units should file accurate reports required by federal and state agencies.  Noncompliance 
may require corrective action.  (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Cities and Towns, Chapter 7) 
 
 
PETTY CASH FUND – BROOKSHIRE GOLF COURSE 
 
 The Petty Cash Fund has had routine fluctuations in amounts of money missing.  As of August 27, 2009, the Petty Cash Fund was 
missing $184.82.  Some disbursements were not supported by receipts or other documentation.  Without such documentation, it appears that 
money could have been taken from the Petty Cash Fund without proper approval.  The original Petty Cash funds were issued to the Brookshire 
Golf Course.  A responsible custodian was not designated at the time of issue. 
 
 Supporting documentation such as receipts, canceled checks, tickets, invoices, bills, contracts, and other public records must be available 
for audit to provide supporting information for the validity and accountability of monies disbursed.  Payments without supporting documentation 
may be the personal obligation of the responsible official or employee.  (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Cities and 
Towns, Chapter 7) 
 
 
CONDITION OF RECORDS – BROOKSHIRE GOLF COURSE 
 
 The following deficiencies, relating to the recordkeeping, were present during our period of audit: 
 

(1) Numerous credit adjustments were made to the golf course funds.  The City did not have a procedure or control in place that 
identified credit or refund policies or who was required to oversee and approve these adjustments.  Due to the lack of proper 
internal controls, we are unable to determine if these negative transactions reflect correction of errors or concealment of fraud. 

 
Receipt and disbursement corrections or other errors should be corrected by memorandum entry with the issuance of a check 
and receipt to document the flow of the transactions.  (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Cities and 
Towns, Chapter 7) 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 

(Continued) 
 

 
Accounting information must not be modified by computer utility programs which are not contained in the accounting 
application system.  The accounting application system must be supported by computerized and manual procedures to assure 
the following error correction controls are implemented: 

 
 • The type of error condition is recorded. 
 
 • The original transaction creating the error is retained within the system. 
 
 • A reversing transaction to eliminate the effect of the error is entered and retained within the system. 
 
 • The correct transaction is entered into the system and recorded. 
 
 • Management approval for error correction is documented.  (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
  Manual for Cities and Towns, Chapter 7) 

 
(2) Two Brookshire Golf Course employees received golf clubs that were purchased by the golf course on April 24, 2009, and 

there was no record of payment by either employee.  On July 28, 2009, the Clerk-Treasurer requested reimbursement from 
the employees who received the clubs, and on July 31, 2009, the City was reimbursed the full amount.  

 
Public funds may not be used to pay for personal items or for expenses which do not relate to the functions and purposes of 
the governmental unit.  Any personal expenses paid by the governmental entity may be the personal obligation of the respon-
sible official or employee.  (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Cities and Towns, Chapter 7) 

 
(3) A police report was filed on June 23, 2009, regarding a presumed theft of approximately $1,000.  Three more instances of theft 

were reported to the police as follows: 
 

  (a) On June 1, 2009, $367.00 was missing from a prepared deposit. 
 
  (b) On June 19, 2009, $229.00 was missing from the Petty Cash fund. 
 
  (c) On July 4, 2009, $120.00 was missing from the Petty Cash fund.   

 
All of these cases are still under investigation.  

 
Break-ins, burglaries or other crimes committed against the governmental unit should be documented by the filing of an official 
police report.  Insurance companies should be contacted to request payment for any allowable coverage.  (Accounting and 
Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Cities and Towns, Chapter 7) 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 
CRIME INSURANCE POLICY 
  
 The City of Carmel has an insurance policy that has a provision to cover crime related incidents as follows: 
 

 
 
REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION PAYROLL 
 
 Carmel Redevelopment Commission (CRC) staff positions are filled by employees of Stivers Staffing Service.  CRC receives periodic 
billings from, and makes periodic payments to, Stivers Staffing Service, for the reimbursement of salaries, wages and benefits to, or on behalf of, 
these individuals.  During the period from April 1, 2009 to July 31, 2009, the CRC used tax increment financing (TIF) funds for these payments to 
Stivers Staffing Service.  The table below reflects the staff positions, the percentage of salaries or wages of the position paid from TIF funds, and 
the total amount paid from TIF funds. 
  

 

Limit of Deductible
Coverage Amount

1. Employee Theft 100,000$          1,000$             
2. Forgery or Alteration 10,000             1,000               
3. Loss Inside Building 100,000            1,000               
4. Loss Outside Building 100,000            1,000               
5. Computer Fraud 2,500               1,000               

Allocation Total Paid 
Title to TIF Funds from TIF Funds

Director of Redevelopment 100% 54,627.47$       
Accounting Manager 100% 32,062.50         
Finance Director 75% 30,726.61         
Redevelopment Coordinator 100% 15,888.38         
Communications Manager 50% 12,696.92         
Arts District Office Supervisor 25% 3,521.69           
Summer Intern 100% 2,993.25           
Event Coordinator 50% 1,277.25           

Total 153,794.07$     
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CITY OF CARMEL 
AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 
 In establishing the accounting for and the use of TIF funds, IC 36-7-14-39(b)(2) states in part:  "Except as otherwise provided in this 
section, property tax proceeds in excess of those described in subdivision (1) shall be allocated to the redevelopment district and, when collected, 
paid into an allocation fund for that allocation area that may be used by the redevelopment district only to do one (1) or more of the following:" 
 
 What follows are IC 36-7-14-39(b)(2), clauses (A) through (L), establishing the authorized uses of TIF funds, none of which appear to 
allow for the general payment of salaries, wages and benefits.  Clauses (A) through (F) allow for the payment of debt and various debt-related ex-
penses.  Clauses (H), (I), (K) and (L) allow for the payment of building or parking facility rentals, a property tax replacement credit, reimbursements 
to public and private entities for the training of industrial facility employees and costs related to an eligible energy efficiency project, respectively.  
Clauses (G) and (J) allow for reimbursements or direct payments, respectively, for certain local public improvements and read as follows: 
 

"(G) Reimburse the unit for expenditures made by it for local public improvements (which include buildings, parking facilities, and 
other items described in section 25.1(a) of this chapter) that are physically located in or physically connected to that allocation 
area." 
 
"(J) Pay expenses incurred by the redevelopment commission for local public improvements that are in the allocation area or 
serving the allocation area. Public improvements include buildings, parking facilities, and other items described in section 25.1(a) 
of this chapter." 
 

 The only possible reference, in IC 36-7-14-25.1(a), to salaries, wages and benefits being allowable is IC 36-7-14-25.1(a)(2), which 
appears to relate to specific professional fees, and states:  "all reasonable and necessary architectural, engineering, legal, financing, accounting, 
advertising, bond discount, and supervisory expenses related to the acquisition and redevelopment of the property or the issuance of bonds; . . ." 

 
 In addition to the passages above from IC 36-7-14-39, a section of the Indiana Administrative Code, 50 IAC 8-2-13(e) allows for TIF funds 
to be used to reimburse a unit for certain supervisory expenses, as follows: 
 

"A unit may be reimbursed under subsection (a)(7) or (a)(8) only for expenditures that qualify under that subsection and that were 
made after the adoption of the resolution in which the allocation area was declared. Supervisory expenses related to redevelopment 
projects in the allocation area that are paid to individuals retained to supervise such projects qualify as expenditures for which reim-
bursement can be made." 

 
 It does not appear as though the salaries, wages and benefits of the staff positions detailed in the table above would qualify, in whole or in 
part, as allowable expenditures from TIF funds, except to the extent that the individuals may have been "retained to supervise" redevelopment 
projects, in which case TIF funds could be utilized to reimburse the CRC, or the City of Carmel, for such expenditures. 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 
GRANTS TO CARMEL PERFORMING ARTS FOUNDATION 
 
 In 2009, disbursements totaling $550,000 were made from Carmel Redevelopment Commission (CRC) funds to the Carmel Performing 
Arts Foundation, a not-for-profit corporation.   
 
 As there was no contract or agreement between the CRC and the Carmel Performing Arts Foundation, minutes from meetings of the CRC 
board meetings are the only written documentation available in support of these payments.  The March 18, 2009, minutes of the CRC stated, ". . . 
approve a $150,000 grant which would be used for staffing for the Regional Performing Arts Center."  The June 30, 2009, minutes of the CRC 
stated, ". . . it is necessary to provide additional funding to hire an Executive Director and support staff for the operations of the facility.  The funding 
source for this grant will be excess funds from a higher than anticipated TIF distribution . . . The CRC is looking to approve a grant for $400,000 to 
the Regional Performing Arts Center Foundation." 
 
 Although TIF (Tax Increment Financing) funds are mentioned in the minutes as a source of funding for these payments, the disbursements 
were not made from TIF allocation funds. 
 
 IC 36-7-14-12.2 (a) lists twenty-seven (27) powers granted to a redevelopment commission.  Only the powers numbered twenty-five (25) 
and twenty-six (26) grant the authority to provide financial assistance to individuals or another entity.  Those powers are stated in the code as 
follows: 
 

"(25) Provide financial assistance (including grants and loans) to enable individuals and families to purchase or lease residential units 
within the district.  However, financial assistance may be provided only to individuals and families whose income is at or below the 
unit's median income for individuals and families, respectively. 
 
(26) Provide financial assistance (including grants and loans) to neighborhood development corporations to permit them to: 
 

 (A) provide financial assistance for the purposes described in subsection (25); or  
 (B) construct, rehabilitate, or repair commercial property within the district." 

  
 Providing grants to not-for-profit corporations is not listed as one of the powers granted to a Redevelopment Commission. 
 
 
ACCOUNTING FOR TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) FUNDS 
 
 The City of Carmel receives TIF tax collections for twenty-one (21) individual allocation areas on a semiannual basis.  These collections 
are receipted to a TIF cash account within the Redevelopment Operating Fund.  The receipts from all twenty-one allocation areas are comingled in 
the same cash account.  Expenditures paid from TIF funds come from the one TIF cash account and are not segregated by allocation area. 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 
 IC 36-7-14-39 states in part: 
 

"(a) As used in this section:  'Allocation area' means that part of a redevelopment project area to which an allocation provision of a 
declaratory resolution adopted under section 15 of this chapter refers for purposes of distribution and allocation of property taxes.  
. . .  
 
(2) Except as otherwise provided in this section, property tax proceeds . . . 
 
(1) shall be allocated to the redevelopment district and, when collected, paid into an allocation fund for that allocation area that 

may be used by the redevelopment district only to do one (1) or more of the following: . . ." 
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CITY OF CARMEL 
EXIT CONFERENCE 

 
 

 The contents of this report were discussed on November 9, 2009, with Eric Seidensticker, President of the Common Council; Rick Sharp 
and Luci Snyder, Common Council members; and Diana Cordray, Clerk-Treasurer.  The contents of this report were discussed on November 12, 
2009, with James Brainard, Mayor.  The official responses have been made a part of this report and may be found on pages 102 through 114. 





Bruce A. Harknan, CPA, State Examiner
January 6,2014
Page2

time spent by employees on specific project activities, as opposed to general admifis6a6t"
tasks, may be properly compensated from TIF funds. We are prepared to validate for you that
the employees in question, who were compensated in whole or in part from TIF funds, were so

engaged.

We would be happy to further discuss these responses with you or your staff at your
conve,nience. Please let me know if we can answer any questions you may have. We appreciate
yow consideration of these responses.

Verv kulv vorus.//; rlt
,)i / za---?
'l a, r a

,,f "'
/ Jarnes Brainard

Mayor
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Crrv oF Cenunr
Jnnrs BnarNeno, Nllvott

November 19,2009

Bnrce A. Hartmara CPA, State Exa:niner
Indiana State Board of Accounts
302 West Washington Street, Room E418
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204-27 65

Re: City of Cannel.Indiana

Dear Mr. Hartnan:

This letter constitutes the response of the City of Carmel, lndiana (the "City") to the draft
Audit Results and Comments (the *Draft Audit Comments') that were recently provided to the
City by your office. In preparing this response, we have consulted with the law firm of Barnes &
Thornburg LLP, who frequently serves as bond counsel for the City and the Carmel
Redevelopment Commission ("CRC") on bond financings, and the law firrn of Wallack Somers
& Haas, who serves as general counsel to the CRC. These firms have provided the City with the
legal basis for the comrnents set forth below.

Re dev e lop me nt C ommk s ion Payr o ll

The section of the Draft Audit Comments entitled "Redevelopment Commission Payroll"
notes that the CRC has used allocated taxes cornmonly known as tax increment finance ("TIF")
revenues to pay all or a portion of salaries of certain CRC staff members. TIF revenues from a
given TIF allocation area are deposited into an allocation fund and may be used for the purposes
set forth inIC 36-7-14-39(b)(2). The last sentence of that subsection provides as follows: "The
allocation fund may not be used for operating expenses of the commission." The question raised
by the Draft Audit Comments is whetber salaries or portions of salaries are necessarily
considered operating expenses for purposes of this provision.

The redevelopment statute (lC 36-7-14) contains no guidance as to what do and do not
constitute operating expenses of the CRC for purposes of the statute quoted above. However, it
seelns clear that costs incurred by a redevelopment commission for land acquisition and project
costs would not constitute operating expenses. For exarnple, if a redevelopment commission

On*e Crvrc.Sqr'.rnr, Clnrrnr., IN 46032 Or.r,rcr 317.571.2401. F,rx 3lt-.814.34c)B

Errt.,ltr. ibrainard@carrnel. i n..gov
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Bnrce A. Hartrnan, CPA, State Examiner
November 19,2009
Page 2

hired an owner's representative to oversee the development and constuction of a project,
compensation paid to that person or entity clearly would not be an operating expense of the
commission, but rather would be chargeable against the project as a project cost. On the other
hand, operating expenses would consist of costs incurred for general administrative overhead
that could not be allocated to a given project or projects.

The CRC has engaged several staff members, some of which work solely on projects,
some of which are primarily administrative, and some of which allocate some of their time to
projects and some to general administrative tasks. We believe that it is entirely appropriate
under the redevelopment statute for the CRC to pay salaries of staff members who work solely
on specific identified projects, such as the Director of Redevelopmenl out of TIF ftnds. We
also believe that it is entirely appropriate for the CRC to make reasonable determinations as to
how much time a given staff member works on projects, &nd how much on general

administative tasks, and to pay for the portion of that personos salary allocated to projects from
TIF funds. The mere fact that the staff member is an employee rather than an independent
contractor should not matter for purposes of determining whether that staff member is hired to
work on projects, or for general adminishative duties. The CRC is entitled to use TIF funds to
pay for ail of the persornel that are necessary to carry out the projects that the CRC has

undertaken.

We understand from our discussions with your staff that the State Board of Accounts
does not disagree with the analysis set forth above. However, staffrequested that in the future,
the CRC provide documentation to support the basis upon which the salary allocations are

arrived at.

Grants to Carmel Pedorming Arts Foundation

The other section of the Draft Audit Comments that we wish to respond to is entitled
"Grants to Carmel Performing Arts Foundation." By way of backgrorurd - CRC has undertaken
the construction and operation of a redevelopment project that includes a premier concert hall.
That concert hall requires on-going staffing and operation, which, at this poinf requires CRC
funding (it is hoped that, later, private donations and operating revenues will cover the expenses
of operating the hall). The Cannel Perfonning Arts Foundation ("CPAF") is a 501(c)(3) entity
formed to undertake and carry out the operation of the concert hall on behalf of the CRC. When
the CRC authorized payments to CPAF, the payments were, by the terms of the resolutions,
designated to pay concert hal1 stafFrng and operating expenses. In effect, whether denominated
as "grants" or another form of payment, CRC was doing nothing more than providing funds to
pay the expens€s of staffing and operating a building that it constructed and owns. This is a
coilrmon practice for non-profit entities to manage city arts facilities.

It is manifest in IC 36-7't4 that a redevelopment commission may: (a) acquire land; (b)
undertake on that land redevelopment projects that it owns or leases; and (c) maintain and
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operate those projects, including staffing the projects. (See IC 36-7-14-12.2(a)(l), (15) - (16),
and (22), and other sections of IC 36-7-14). Maintenance and operation of those projects
invariably require funding, and IC 36-7-14 addresses from what sources operating costs may be

funded. (See IC 36-7-14-39 and other sections of IC 36-7-14). The penrrissible means available
to a redevelopment commission to maintain and operate its projeets include: (a) directing its own
staff or employees to carry out the maintenance and/or operation (see IC 36-7-14-12.2($Qa)-
(18) and other sections of IC 36-7-14); (b) ananging with another govemmental agency or
deparhent to perform the maintenance andlor operation and provide stafiing; and (c) arranging
with a non-governmental third-party to provide the maintenance and/or operation, including
staffing (again, see IC 36'7-14-12.2(a)(1a)-(l S) and other sections of lC 36-7-14). There are not
statutory limitations on the type of party that may sewe as a non-governmental third-party
provider. The third-parfy provider may be a "for-profif'or a "not-for-profif' entity, and it may
be a corporation, partuiership, limited liability company, sole proprietorship, or an individual.
When a redevelopment commission:uranges with or employs a non-governmental third-party to
provide maintenance and/or operation for one of its projects, the commission, of course, is
authorized to cover or pay costs incurred by the third-party provider and/or to compensate the
third-parry provider (again, see IC 36-7-I4-12.2(a)(1a)-(18) and other sections of IC 36-7-14).
There are not statutory limitations inlC 36-7-14 on how payment of such costs or compensation
must be characterized. In the case of a third-party provider that is a "not-for-profif' eoqporation,
payment of such costs or compensation legally could be characterized as a "grant," rather than as

another form of recompense or remuneration, and, in such cases, the payment qualifies under IC
36-7-14 as recompense or remrmeration, rather than as financial assistance, because the payment

is being made to cover the costs of maintaining andlor operating a redevelopment commission
project. The specific provision (IC 36-7-14-12.2(a){26)) authorizing redevelopment
commissions to make grants to neighborhood development corporations is simply that: it is

another power granted to redevelopment commissions, not a limitation on powers otherwise
provided by IC 36-7-14, including that it is not a limitation on how payments to third-party
providers may be characterized.

In the case of payments that were made by CRC to CPAF and were characterized as

"grants," the following analysis applies. CRC acquired the land on which the Carmel Regional
Perfonning Arts Center is located and undertook on that land a redevelopment project, including
a world-class concert hall (the "Concert Hall") that CRC owns and is responsible for maintaining
and operating. CRC has the statutory authority to fund the maintenance and operation of the
Concert Hall, including funding the costs to staff the Concert Hall and hire an executive director
for the Concert Hall. CPAF is a "not-for-profit" (IRC 501(c)(3)) corporation formed for
purposes that include maintaining, operating, and staffing the Concert Hall, and, under IC 36-7-
14, CPAF is an appropriate and permissible parry to eary out maintenance, operation, and
staffing of the Concert Hall on behalf of CRC. Because: (a) CPAF is an appropriate and
permissible party for that purpose; (b) CRC is authorized to cover or pay costs incurred by
parties carrying out the maintenance, operation, and staffing of the Concert Hall; and (c) in the
case of a "not-for-profif' corporation" CRC may characterize payment of such costs as a gant;
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CRC had the statutory authority to: (a) cover or pay costs incurred by CPAF in carrying out the
maintenance, operation, and staffing of the Concert Hall; and (b) characterize those payments as

"grants", rather than as another form of recompense or remuneration.

For the reasons set forth above, we believe that the CRC acted appropriately and in
accordance with state statute in using TIF funds to pay for portions of its staffrng expenses
relating to ongoing projects of the CRC, and that the CRC also acted appropriately and in
accordance wi& state statute in paying for the maintenance, operation and staffing of a CRC
facility by way of a grant to a non-profit organization hired to perform those functions.

We would be happy to discuss these responses with you further at your convenience.
Please let me know if we can answer any questions you may have. We appreciate your
consideration of these responses.

T ^t 
yourr, \

,tv-<.t- l5*'--*0
James Brainard
Mayor

INDS0I BDD 11635?9vl
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City of Carmel

November 18,2009

Bruce Hartman
State Examiner
302 W. Washington St. #E4i8
Indianapolis, IN 46204

Mr. Hartman:

The following is my response to your draft report of the Audit Results and Comments for
fiscal 2008.

OVERDRAWN CASH BALANCES

The Carmel Utility is the responsibility of the Director of Utilities. They staff two

accountants who manage all utility finances with the exception of payroll and accounts

payable.

ANNUAL REPORT

The Clerk Treasurers Annual Report omitted funds managed by the bond trustees, two of
which were the Water Utility debt. The State of Indiana has mandated that this report be

forwarded to the Board of Accounts electronically. We agree to the utility of this repoft.

However, the software proscribed by the state creates major challenges for the user. This

repofi omission in no way indicates the misuse or misallocation of financial transactions

for the City. It is our desire always to accommodate all state requirement on a timely

mannef.

PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

My former payloll administrator was asked to leave my administration in June, 2008 The

assistant payroll administrator stepped into this role immediately. We have made great

progress in the last 18 months. After numerous calls to the IRS in late summer of '08, we

finally connected with a representative who gave us the phone number for the Carmel

IRS Office. Within 30 days, the IRS agent met with us for almost 3 Vzhours. He found
many discrepancies on the part of the IRS and he left stating that these adjustments would
be conected.

()NE CllVICl SQUARE CARIv{EL, lNI)IANA 46012 3t7l5it-)414
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In June '08 we received conespondence (Attach. i) stating that the IRS was over-worked

and they had not resolved our inquiry. The same correspondence was received on Aug.

10, 2009 (Attach.2). On August 28,2009I sent a letter to the IRS reiterating our

dissatisfaction (Attach. 3). Since August, we have received numerous checks from the

IRS correcting their previous adjustments (Attach 4). I have also included a letter from

Long and Associates who have worked with us recently on this matter (Attach 5).

Short term disability is managed by the Human Relations Department. We have

discussed this issue with H.R., and we are carefully following shorl term disability as

reporlable income. We have also contacted the Indiana Department of Revenue and are

providing resolution to this issue.

ACCOLINTING FOR TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIN FI.INDS

The Tax Increment Finance (TIF) tax collections from the county are designated by

allocation area. However, the expenses incurred by the CRC (Carmel Redevelopment

Commission) are not charged to each allocation area. This issue has been discussed with
the CRC, and we anticipate that they will comply with this requirement beginning in
fiscal 2010.

Sincerely,
i,,,t',1,'l

, L{rje L:1*i L" t V' L4-'.
Diana L. Cordray
Carmel Clerk/Treasirrer
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.*leil{*te rnal Revenuc Servlcc'

CINCINNATI OH q5999-0049

CITY OF CARMEL CLERK-TREASURER
1 CIVIC SQ
cARHEL IN 46032-258q

In reply refer to 2 0264105190
June 08, 2009 LTR 2644C 0

2006L2 0I 000
0000I242

BODC: TE

t5456

Taxpayer Identification Number:
Tax Period(s):

While waiting to hear from us
reduce your tax Iiability and
a payment properly, please wr
number and tax period Iisted
check or money order.

Dec

94t

51, 2006

Form:

Dear Taxpayer;

We previously sent you a letter concerning your Formref erenced above. Although y,,e try to respond quicklyextcnsive research is t.equired. At this time we areprovide a complete response because:

Due to heavy workloadr w€ have not yet completednesolve your inquiry.

Please al'Iow an additionat 60 days for us to obtain the informationwe need and to let you know what action we are taking.
If vou have anv questionsr please calI us toll free at 1-g00-g?g-01I5
If you prefer, you may write to us at the address shown at the topof the first page of this Letter.
Whenever you writer prease include your tetephone numberr the hourswe can reach vou, and this letter. Keep a copy of this letter foryour records.

I

,ql4,,to[I i-' iv
tY

941
r often
unable to

our research to

r Vou can stilI make payments to
interest charges. To help us apply

ite the taxpayer identification
at the top of this letter on your

Your Telephone Number (_)
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vae,, r l( 5 il,,i;ili"fi ;;i;l; ffi".'il'J

CINCINNATI OH q5999-0049
In neply refer to: 026q026776
Aug. 10, 2009 LTR 2644C 0

2006t2 0 t
00002276

B0DC: N0B0D

CITY OF CARMEL CLERK-TREASURER
I CIVIC SQ
cARMEL IN 46032-2584

007451

94t
r often
unable to

our research to

While waiting to hear frorn usr you can still make payments toreduce your tax Liabilitv and interest charges. To help us applya payment properlyr please write the taxpayer identification
number and tax period Listed at the top of this Ietter on your
check or money order.

PIease al1ow an additional 60 days for us to obtain the informationwe need and to let you know what action we are taking.

-800-8?9-0II5.

at the top

r the hours
letter for

d,)'oq
Taxpayer Identification Number:

Tax Period(s) : DEc. -5-f;-2U06

Form: 94I

Dear Taxpayer:

We previously sent you a Ietter concerning yout- Formreferenced above. Although we try to respond quickly
extensive research is required. At this time we areprovide a compl,ete response because:

Due to heavy workload, we have not yet completedresolve your inquiry.

If you have any questions, please calL us toIl free at I

If you prefen, you may write to us at the address shownof the first page of this letter.
Wheneven vou write, please include your telephone number
we can reach your and this letter. Keep a copy of thisyoun records.

Youn Telephone Number (

-111-
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City of Carm.el
Office of the

Clerk-Treasurer

August 28,2009

Rita A. l-eete
Accounts Management II
Internal Revenue Service
Cincinnati Service Center
Cincinnati, Ohio 45999

Dear Ms, Leete:

I am in receipt of your undated correspondence which was received by my municipal
office on Wednesday, August 26, 2009.

We have pursued resolution of this matter for over 18 months. We had the opportunity
work with a Richard De Shields in the field office last fall (2008) which proved very
helpful. At that time, we felt we had met your requirement. However, we have since
received correspondence from the IRS (see attached) that you are very busy.

We wish to reconcile any questions regardingg4l. We are, however, a tax supported
municipality which receives its authority from the State of Indiana. We are forbidden to
pay late fees to any entity. A Notice of Intent to Levy is also inappropriate when our
attempts to work with your organization have not resulted in satisfaction. We are
sincerely interested in reconciling our differences particularly with your local office.

Our efforts to satisfy your demands can best be reconciled with your field office, I do not
doubt that you have a heavy workload, but so do we. Your cooperation would be greatly
appreciated.

Diana L. Cord
Treasurer of the

CARMEI_, rNDIANA46032 3171571.2414

-lt2-
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Notice Number: CP230
Datel October 19, 2009

Taxpayer ldentification Number:

TarFoirn: 941

Tax Period: December 31, 2006

11154-67 2-55043-9

For assistance, cail:
1-800-829-01 15

40085333 230
TE2

057279.615060.0204.005 1 AT 0 ,357 532

rl,,ll,llllilrt,ltilr,rtlllill,il,ttlrt,il,t,ltl;tlt;,;rl,rrr,,t

CITY OF CARMEL
1 CIVIC SQ
CARMEL IN

5127 9

We Adjusted Your Account
29141-050-7 6637 -7

We made this adjustment because the amounts shown on your infbmration retums (Forms W-2, Wage and
Tax Statement; Forms 1099-R Distributions From Pensions, Annuities, Retirement or Prot-rt-Sharing
Plans, IRA, Insurance Contracts; or Forms W-2G, Statement for Certain Garnbling Winnings) didn't match
the figures shown on your emplolmrent tax retum(s) for the tax period shown above. This was explained
in a letter we sent you earlier.

Adjustment C omputation

Amount You Owe On Account Before Adjustment
Decrease-S ocial Security Wages
Decrease-Medicare Wages
Income Tax Withhol ding-Decrease
Total Tax-Decrease
Penalty Decrease

Interest Allowed

Reduction of Interest Previously Charged
Net Adjustment Credit

t2.40%
02.90%

937r,62

$2.36

$581.41

s4,538.40
$ 1,512.09

$354.36
91,849.77
sl,716.21

Cverpayment

Interest allowed must be reported as income on your next income tax retunr

Status of Your Account (Exam)

$4,67t.59

$133.19

This notice isn't the result of an examination of your return. We noti$r a taxpayer when we select his/her
retum for examination.

For tax forms, instructions and information visit www.irs.gov. (Access to this site will not provide you
with your specific taxpayer account information.)
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Individual/Corp0rate Tax . Acc0unting Services . Management Consulting r Business Valuations . Estate Planning

November 12,2009

City of Carmel
One Civic Square
Carmel, IN 46032

Dear Diana:

I have had discussions with the IRS and the Social Security Administration in
regards to the tax period December 2006. The difference between the 94ls that were filed
and the W-2's filed has been processed by the IRS to be additional tax liability in the
fourth quarter of Tax Year 2006 until further evaluation.

we have requested a copy of the w-2s filed with the Social Security
Administration in order to send them to the IRS for evaluation.

You have received a letter from the IRS stating there is no tax liability due and
that you are due a refund. With my past experience with the IRS this is provided after
they have taken into consideration all corespondence from all parties and that the Social
Security Administration has probably provided the IRS directly the copies of W-2s. I
would consider this a closed matter and expect a check from the IRS.

If you have any further questions please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,
Long & AsqpS:iates, P.C.

.--jtuLry',1;Q
Sally Reid

-tr4-

8388 E.116th Street, Suite A Fishers, Indiana 46038

Phone: 317 .577 .5975 Facsimile: 317 .577 .5965 E-Mail: LandA@longandassoc com




